Rhoda Wanyenze Esther Buregyeya Joseph Matovu Rose Kisa Joseph Kagaayi Caroline Vrana-Diaz Angela Malek William Musoke Harriet Chemusto et al.

Increasing HIV self-testing and linkage to care for partners of women in antenatal care in Uganda

July 2019

#### **HIV and AIDS**

Impact Evaluation Report 102





#### About 3ie

The International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) promotes evidence-informed equitable, inclusive and sustainable development. We support the generation and effective use of high-quality evidence to inform decision-making and improve the lives of people living in poverty in low- and middle-income countries. We provide guidance and support to produce, synthesize and quality-assure evidence of what works, for whom, how, why and at what cost.

#### **3ie impact evaluations**

3ie-supported impact evaluations assess the difference a development intervention has made to social and economic outcomes. 3ie is committed to funding rigorous evaluations that include a theory-based design, use the most appropriate mix of methods to capture outcomes and are useful in complex development contexts.

#### About this report

3ie accepted the final version of the report, *Uptake and linkage to care after HIV selftesting for partners at antenatal care services in Uganda*, as partial fulfilment of requirements under grant TW2.2.28 awarded through the HIV Self-Testing Evidence Program. The content has been copy-edited and formatted for publication by 3ie.

The 3ie technical quality assurance team for this report comprises Anna Heard, Nancy Diaz, Eric Djimeu, Pooja Sengupta, Stuti Tripathi, Emmanuel Jimenez, an anonymous external impact evaluation design expert reviewer and an anonymous external sector expert reviewer, with overall technical supervision by Marie Gaarder. The 3ie editorial production team for this report comprises Sahib Singh and Akarsh Gupta, with Beryl Leach providing overall editorial supervision.

All of the content is the sole responsibility of the authors and does not represent the opinions of 3ie, its donors or its board of commissioners. Any errors and omissions are also the sole responsibility of the authors. All affiliations of the authors listed in the title page are those that were in effect at the time the report was accepted. Please direct any comments or queries to the corresponding author, Rhoda Wanyenze, at rwanyenze@musph.ac.ug.

Funding for this impact evaluation was provided by 3ie's donor, the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.

Suggested citation: Wanyenze, R, Buregyeya, E, Matovu, J, Kisa, R, Kagaayi, J, Vrana-Diaz, C, Malek, A, Musoke, W, Chemusto, H, Mukama, S and Korte, J, 2019. *Increasing HIV self-testing and linkage to care for partners of women in antenatal care in Uganda,* Impact Evaluation Report 102. New Delhi: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie). Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.23846/TW2IE102

Cover photo: Durgadas Menon / 3ie

© International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie), 2019

# Increasing HIV self-testing and linkage to care for partners of women in antenatal care in Uganda

Rhoda Wanyenze Makerere University School of Public Health

Esther Buregyeya Makerere University School of Public Health

Joseph Matovu Makerere University School of Public Health

Rose Kisa Makerere University School of Public Health

Joseph Kagaayi Makerere University School of Public Health

Caroline Vrana-Diaz Medical University of South Carolina

Angela Malek Medical University of South Carolina

William Musoke Mildmay Uganda

Harriet Chemusto Mildmay Uganda

Semei Mukama Mildmay Uganda

Jeffrey Korte Medical University of South Carolina

### Impact Evaluation Report 102

July 2019



## Acknowledgements

We acknowledge the International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) for funding this evaluation. The Uganda Ministry of Health provided support during planning and study implementation and led the dissemination of findings to stakeholders. The Ministry of Health was instrumental in facilitating an easy and quick uptake of study results for policy use, especially following the release of a policy on HIV self-testing by the World Health Organization, and Uganda's subsequent need to adopt the policy guidelines.

The district and government health facilities that participated in this study provided adequate support in mobilizing health workers to work with the study teams to implement this evaluation. Mildmay Uganda teams at district level are appreciated for facilitating entry into the study districts and health facilities, which enabled a smooth rollout of the evaluation. The Mildmay Uganda team, together with the health facilities, provided standby counselors trained in counseling and support for gender-based violence.

Special thanks go to the research team from Makerere School of Public Health, Mildmay Uganda and the Medical University of South Carolina for working hard to ensure this evaluation was done well. The study coordinator, counselors and research assistants who ensured study procedures were followed and data collected appropriately – and health workers at the three antenatal care units – are equally appreciated.

Finally, the study participants who consented to participate in this study, women and their partners, are greatly appreciated.

### Summary

Couples testing is a critical intervention to the attainment of the United Nations' 90–90– 90 targets toward ending HIV by 2030. In Uganda, the couples testing rate was only 16 percent in 2011. The World Health Organization strongly recommends HIV self-testing (HIVST) as an approach with the potential to improve uptake of couples and partner HIV testing. In this study, we proposed to deliver HIVST kits to partners through pregnant women attending antenatal care to eradicate several supply and demand barriers to couples testing.

We implemented a phased cluster randomized controlled trial among pregnant women attending antenatal care at Mpigi Health Centre Level 4, and at Entebbe and Nakaseke hospitals, to determine the uptake of HIV testing in the male partners and assess the linkage to care among HIV-positive partners across the two study arms.

We randomized clinic days to intervention or control. Women in both arms received health education and were encouraged to bring their partners to test at the facility. Women in the intervention arm were additionally given HIVST kits to deliver to their partners. We conducted structured interviews with women at baseline, month 1 and month 3 post-enrollment, and with the men at one month and three months after the women's enrollment.

We also conducted a long-term, follow-up sub-study on HIV-positive men and discordant couples at six months and up to 24 months post-enrollment.

The primary outcomes were self-reported HIV testing, post-test linkage to care (defined by self-reported registration at an HIV clinic) and strategies for coping with discordant status reported by the woman or her male partner across month 1 and month 3 follow-ups and up to 24 months.

We conducted key informant interviews with healthcare providers and in-depth interviews with selected women, their male partners, family members, HIV-positive men and discordant couples who used the kits. We collected cost data to estimate the cost impact of HIVST, relative to public health benefits, and the corresponding cost to the medical system required to test an additional partner and detect each additional case of HIV. All primary outcomes are based on intention to treat.

We recruited 1,618 women – 333 women in 59 clusters (20.6%) from Nakaseke, 558 women in 108 clusters (34.5%) from Mpigi and 727 women in 180 clusters (44.9%) from Entebbe. The mean age of the pregnant women was 25.2 years (standard deviation = 5.5), and the majority were cohabitating (1,258 of 1,618, or 79.0%). The male partners' mean age was 32.2 years (standard deviation = 8.1). Overall, the randomized intervention and control groups were comparable, with no statistically significant differences observed between groups beside male religion, which could be due to small sample sizes in certain categories.

We observed a dramatic increase in male partner testing in the intervention arm, with a nearly four times higher proportion of male partners testing. Overall, considering reports of testing from the women's and men's reports across month 1 and month 3, 626 of 816 (76.7%) tested for HIV in the intervention group versus 278 of 742 (37.5%) in the control

group. Furthermore, 562 (73.3%) in the intervention arm tested as couples, compared to 186 (30.8%) in the control arm.

Over the entire follow-up period, based on the women's and men's reports, 42 HIVpositive men were identified in the intervention arm and 11 were identified in the control group. Based on the month 1 and month 3 follow-ups, we observed 10 of 42 men in the intervention arm and 5 of 11 in the control group linked to care (p = 0.09). In extended follow-up in phase 3 of the study, focusing on men who had tested HIV-positive in the intervention arm, we found that 21 of 42 men eventually went for confirmatory testing.

*Qualitative results:* We conducted 85 qualitative interviews to explore six thematic areas:

- motivation to test;
- anticipated fears and barriers to HIVST;
- strategies used by women in delivering HIVST kits to their partners;
- experiences in using HIVST kits;
- social consequences of HIVST; and
- positive outcomes and benefits of HIVST.

Although women initially had fears about how to introduce the HIVST kits to their partners, they affirmed that the kits encouraged men to test for HIV and helped the women to learn their male partners' HIV status. They and their partners found it easy to use the kits, but were skeptical about the simple test kit's ability to test for HIV.

Women who enjoyed good relationships with their partners introduced the kits on the same day, but many women took some time to consider which strategies to use. HIVST was reported to increase the number of men escorting their wives or partners to health facilities and testing for HIV, besides improving the quality of their relationships.

In phase 3, we conducted 25 in-depth interviews to explore the coping mechanisms of HIV-discordant couples after they learned about their discordant status, and seven indepth interviews to explore factors that facilitated or inhibited HIV-positive men from linking to HIV care.

Our findings on coping mechanisms show that although individuals in HIV-discordant relationships were initially afraid of separating, no separations occurred. Also, although some participants developed suicidal ideations, no suicides were reported. Two main factors enabled individuals in HIV-discordant relationships to cope with their HIV serodiscordance – post-test counseling support from health professionals and psychosocial support from relatives and close friends.

With regard to linkage to HIV care, we found that post-test counseling played a key role in supporting initiation of and retention in HIV care among those who were still in care at the end of the follow-up period. However, lack of HIV status disclosure to the sexual partner was a deterrent to retention in care among those who had initiated HIV care. HIV-positive men who did not link to HIV care cited two main reasons for their failure to do so: (a) they were not yet ready to commit to lifelong antiretroviral therapy – influenced by misconceptions about antiretroviral therapy from their close friends (for example, that taking HIV drugs would make one become "fat and black"); and (b) the feeling that they were still healthy and did not need to initiate HIV treatment at the time. This second observation coincides with men's beliefs that seeking healthcare when one is still strong projects men as weak and less resilient. This keeps men away from HIV treatment programs until they have developed advanced HIV-related disease.

The total cost of the intervention was US\$15,717.27, and US\$5,826.10 for the control. In the intervention arm, the biggest cost driver was the HIVST kits (60.2% of the total cost), followed by above-site costs (20.6%) of the intervention. Above-site costs were the biggest cost driver in the control arm (55% of total cost), followed by facility personnel time (27% of total cost).

The cost per partner tested was US\$30.30 for the intervention and US\$31.20 for the control, while the cost per HIV-infected person identified was US\$462.30 for the intervention and US\$582.60 for the control. Comparing intervention with control, the incremental cost per additional partner tested (incremental cost-effectiveness ratio [ICER]) was US\$29.80 and the ICER per additional partner testing HIV-positive was US\$412.10).

In the sensitivity analysis, reducing the unit cost of self-testing kits by half reduced the cost per partner tested and the cost per HIV-positive partner identified by 30 percent (to US\$21.20 and US\$323.30, respectively). The ICERs of partner testing and of identifying HIV-positive partners were reduced by 48 percent (to US\$15.60 per extra person tested and US\$215.30 per extra HIV-positive person identified). The ICER for identifying HIV-positive partners and the cost per HIV-positive person identified were also sensitive to the proportion of partners who tested HIV-positive. Doubling this proportion reduced the ICER and cost per HIV-positive partner identified by a further 50 percent (ICER = US\$107.60 per incremental HIV-positive partner identified).

Our results demonstrate an enormous increase in partner and couples HIV testing when oral self-testing was available at home. However, our results do not show that men testing positive through HIVST are as likely to link to care as men who test positive at a clinic. We recommend that the Ugandan government consider this model of HIVST as an effective approach to improving male partner and couples testing. We further recommend additional interventions to enhance linkage to care for partners who test HIV-positive through HIVST. Reducing the cost of test kits and targeting the intervention at settings with higher HIV prevalence is important for the cost-effectiveness of HIVST.

# Contents

Acknowledgements	i
Summary	ii
List of figures and tables	vi
Abbreviations and acronyms	viii
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Study justification	1
1.2 Primary research hypothesis and study objectives	2
2. Background	2
2.1 The HIV self-testing intervention	3
2.2 Polymerase chain reaction sub-study	5
2.3 Study extension to oversample HIV-positive women	6
2.4 Study extension to assess long-term linkage to care for HIV-positive men and	
coping among discordant couples who self-tested for HIV	6
2.5 Theory of change and key assumptions	7
2.6 Study time frame	8
2.7 Primary and secondary outcomes of interest	9
3. Data and methods	9
3.1 Research ethics	9
3.2 Power calculation and sample size determination	.10
3.3 Sampling strategy, recruitment and participants' assignment to study arms	.11
3.4 Inclusion and exclusion criteria	.12
3.5 Sources and methods of data collection	.13
3.6 Strategies to avoid bias and address spill-over and contamination	.15
3.7 Data quality control measures	.15
3.8 Problems or challenges	.16
3.9 Data analysis methods	.16
4. Results	.19
4.1 Quantitative findings	.19
4.2 Qualitative results	.39
4.3 Cost-effectiveness analysis results	.50
5. Discussion	.53
5.1 Uptake of HIV testing services by male partners of pregnant women	.53
5.2 Linkage to care	.53
5.3 Strategies for delivering HIV self-testing kits	.55
5.4 Coping mechanisms of HIV-discordant couples after HIV self-testing	.56
5.5 Cost-effectiveness analysis	.57
5.6 Conclusion and recommendations for policy and practice	.57
References	.59

# List of figures and tables

Figure 1: Theory of change
Figure 2: Study time frame
Figure 3: CONSORT flow diagram showing the participants' enrollment and follow-up
trajectory (phase 1)13
Table 1: Baseline characteristics of participating women by intervention or control 21
Table 2: Month 1 characteristics of male partners of women attending antenatal care by
intervention or control
Table 3: Primary outcome tables by intervention arm and follow-up time point – woman's
report of male partner testing23
Table 4: Primary outcome tables by intervention arm, combined woman's and man's
report of male partner testing24
Table 5: Primary outcome table for combined month 1 and month 3 woman's report by
allocation day and woman's age25
Table 6: Primary outcome tables for combined month 1 and month 3 woman's report by
allocation day and woman's educational level
Table 7: Primary outcome tables for combined month 1 and month 3 woman's report by
allocation day and woman's employment status
Table 8: Primary outcome tables for combined month 1 and month 3 woman's report by
allocation day and facility28
Table 9: Primary outcome tables for combined month 1 and month 3 woman's report by
allocation day and woman's baseline HIV status
Table 10: Results of man's HIV testing, combined across woman's and man's report and
month 1 and 3, stratified by allocation day
Table 11: Confirmatory testing for male partners who used HIVST as reported by woman
in month 1
Table 12: Confirmatory testing for male partners who used HIVST, as reported by
woman or man, month 1 or 331
Table 13: Linkage to care for male partners as reported by woman, stratified by
intervention arm and follow-up period31
Table 14: Linkage to care for male partners as reported by man, stratified by intervention
arm and follow-up period32
Table 15: Linkage to care for male partners as reported by either woman or man,
combining month 1 and 3, stratified by intervention arm
Table 16: Confirmatory testing at long-term follow-up (at long-term visit and cumulative)
for male partners testing positive by HIVST
Table 17: Linkage to HIV care at long-term follow-up (at long-term visit and cumulative)
for male partners testing positive by HIVST
Table 18: HIV self-testing as a couple among pregnant woman attending antenatal care
and their male partners34
Table 19: Disclosure rates from woman to man in baseline report
Table 20: Disclosure rates in man's report, stratified by arm and follow-up period 35
Table 21: Disclosure rates in woman's report, stratified by arm and follow-up period 36
Table 22: Partner support based on woman's report
Table 23: Social harms based on woman's report

Table 24:	Discordant couples – relationship outcomes and strategies for coping	38
Table 25:	Number of participants interviewed for the qualitative study by study site and	
	category of participant	40
Table 26:	Distribution of costs by category	51
Table 27:	Cost-effectiveness and incremental cost-effectiveness of self-testing on	
	partners testing and identification of HIV-positive partners	52

# Abbreviations and acronyms

ANC	antenatal care
HC4	Health Centre Level 4
HTS	HIV testing services
HIVST	HIV self-testing
ICC	intraclass correlation
ICER	incremental cost-effectiveness ratio
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PMTCT	prevention of mother-to-child transmission
RR	risk ratio
SD	standard deviation
WHO	World Health Organization

# 1. Introduction

Uganda is one of the three countries that account for 48 percent of all new HIV infections in Sub-Saharan Africa (UNAIDS 2014). Twenty-one countries, including Uganda, are committed to a global plan to eliminate HIV by 2030 and to the United Nations 90–90–90 targets toward ending HIV. The first "90" focuses on ensuring that all people with HIV know their status by 2020; however, testing remains low among certain populations, including men (UNAIDS 2016).

HIV transmission from mother-to-child is the second most-common route of HIV infection, after heterosexual transmission, in Uganda (Ministry of Health et al. 2011). However, only 8 percent of pregnant women attending antenatal care (ANC) tested HIV-positive in 2014 (Uganda AIDS Commission and Ministry of Health 2015). Furthermore, couples testing is only 16 percent (Byamugisha et al. 2011) and partner testing has remained persistently low over the years, even though studies have reported that pregnant women who are aware of their partners' HIV status have beneficial outcomes, including improved prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) and higher rates of delivery in health facilities. Therefore, approaches that increase uptake of HIV testing services (HTS) among partners of pregnant women may improve PMTCT and other maternal health outcomes.

The World Health Organization (WHO) has recommended HIV self-testing (HIVST) as an approach with the potential to improve uptake of couples and partner testing services (WHO 2016), acting as an entry point into couples or partner HTS.

HIVST refers to a process in which a person collects their specimen (oral fluid or blood), performs a test and interprets the result, often in private or with someone they trust (WHO 2015). It is an emerging approach that can extend HTS to people who may be unable or reluctant to attend existing HTS and to people who frequently retest (WHO 2016). HIVST could reach individuals at high risk of HIV infection who experience barriers to conventional HTS, since HIVST offers a private, autonomous and confidential alternative to facility-based tests (Mavedzenge et al. 2013).

#### 1.1 Study justification

Although the WHO and the Uganda PMTCT policy recommend couples and/or partner HIV testing at ANC, couples testing through provider-initiated testing and counseling for pregnant women (Matida et al. 2011; Hensen et al. 2012; WHO 2007), only 16 percent of couples have been tested together (Byamugisha et al. 2011).

This HIVST study is positioned to provide strong and timely evidence to inform national and global HTS guidelines. The revised Uganda HIV testing policy guidelines, launched in January 2017, recommend HIVST only under study and pilot projects and indicate a need to adjust these provisions based on findings from ongoing studies, including this ANC partner testing study (Ministry of Health 2010).

Findings from this pilot could thus inform decisions on HIVST and adjustments to the new policy. Furthermore, Uganda is facing scarcities in human resources for health. HIVST could substantially reduce the burden on healthcare workers to reach and test the male partners and other family members of ANC clients.

#### **1.2 Primary research hypothesis and study objectives**

We hypothesized that the intervention group (HIVST) would have significantly higher male partner testing rates than the comparison group.

We had five research objectives - two primary and three secondary objectives.

Primary objectives:

- 1. to determine the uptake of HIV testing and number of new HIV infections identified in the two study arms; and
- 2. to assess the linkage to care among HIV-positive partners across the two study arms.

Secondary objectives:

- to assess the acceptability of partner or couples HIVST among HIV-positive and HIV-negative women attending ANC (document the proportion of women accepting HIVST kits to take home, those who eventually deliver them, partners and family members testing, and HIV-positive partners or family members receiving confirmatory HIV testing);
- 4. to document the disclosure rates and positive and negative outcomes (positive outcomes including partners' support for women, and negative outcomes including social harms) of partner HIV testing across the two arms; and
- 5. to determine the cost-effectiveness of HIVST for male partner testing during ANC.

## 2. Background

Uganda is among the 22 high-HIV burden countries that account for 90 percent of pregnant women who need antiretroviral drugs for PMTCT (WHO 2011). The standard of care in Uganda does not yet include HIVST, but includes a universal opt-out system for clinic-based, rapid HIV testing by women enrolled in ANC.

More than 90 percent of women agree to receive HTS as part of ANC (Mumtaz et al. 2013; Uganda AIDS Commission 2011). HTS for couples and partners increases HIV testing among men; reduces the risk of HIV acquisition and transmission by pregnant women and their partners (Msuya et al. 2008); and improves women's and infants' use of services (Bajunirwe and Muzoora 2005) and their retention in care and adherence to antiretroviral drugs (Conkling et al. 2010).

Men play an important role in women's risk of acquiring HIV (Msuya et al. 2008) and in prevention, in terms of condom use in the couples' relationships (Farquhar et al. 2004; Desgrées-Du-Loû et al. 2009). Men also play a role in women's use of services, including testing for HIV (Maman et al. 2001; Bajunirwe and Muzoora 2005; Baiden et al. 2005; Peltzer et al. 2008) and obtaining follow-up results (Peltzer et al. 2008). Male partners influence women's treatment decisions regarding delivery in a health facility and whether they receive medication and adhere to it (Conkling et al. 2010; Peltzer et al. 2008). Thus, involvement and testing of male partners enhances outcomes for women and their infants.

In addition, partner testing is an efficient and effective way of identifying additional people with HIV who could benefit from treatment. Couples testing and partner testing

help more people know their HIV status, particularly men, who in generalized epidemic settings are substantially less likely to test than women. Thus, mothers attending ANC are encouraged to bring their partners to be tested. However, in countries with high HIV prevalence, Uganda included, HIV testing rates for men are generally lower than for women. This is because HTS are conducted mainly at ANC and other clinics, where the routine offer of HIV testing is generally the norm (WHO 2015). In most countries, the proportion of couples and partners who test together is less than 20 percent (WHO 2014).

This study was implemented in three health facilities supported by Mildmay Uganda – Entebbe and Nakaseke hospitals and Mpigi Health Center Level 4 (HC4) in Uganda's Central region. Uganda is in East Africa, bordering Kenya to the east, Tanzania and Rwanda to the south, South Sudan to the north and the Democratic Republic of the Congo to the west (UNAIDS 2014). HIV prevalence in Uganda is 7.3 percent in the general population, 8.3 percent among women and 6.1 percent among men; Central region has a higher overall HIV prevalence of 10.9 percent.

#### 2.1 The HIV self-testing intervention

This pilot intervention involved delivery of HIVST kits to partners through eligible pregnant women who received ANC services at the three study sites. ANC clinic days were randomly allocated to two arms – standard of care as the control, which included education for women to encourage their partners to test at the health facility, and the intervention, which included providing women with up to four HIVST kits to deliver to their male partners and other adult family members in the household. Although the primary study outcome was male partner testing, we also collected information on testing by other adult members of the household.

- Control (standard of care): As the women waited to receive health services, facility staff provided routine health education about encouraging their partners to come for HIV testing. We conducted screening to identify eligible women for the study. We conducted baseline interviews with eligible women who consented, as they waited for the clinicians' review. At month 1 and month 3 after the baseline assessments, we conducted follow-up interviews with the women and their male partners.
- Intervention (HIVST): In addition to general health education, women received additional information on HIVST. We gave each woman one to four kits, depending on how many adults – including their sexual partners – lived in their household. We conducted follow-up interviews at month 1 and month 3 to assess the use of the kits and conduct confirmatory testing.

We conducted study activities in two phases: (1) the planning and preparatory phase; and (2) project implementation.

#### 2.1.1 Planning and preparatory phase (Phase 1)

Adaptation of HIV self-testing protocols: While engaging the nurses at each of the facilities, the study team developed data collection tools, reviewed the ANC clinic flow and identified stages for integration of the HIVST study.

Development of HIVST materials: The study team worked with the HIVST manufacturer, Mildmay Uganda and the Ministry of Health to develop HIVST educational and informational materials for the study participants to use. We included the following information in the materials: main modes of HIV transmission; the value of HIV testing; and what they should do if they had a negative or positive HIV test, including confirmatory testing, evaluation and linkage to care in the event of a positive self-test. We translated the study materials into Luganda, the local language in the study area.

*Identification of the study/data advisory board:* The study team conducted stakeholder analysis to identify new and already-identified stakeholders. The stakeholders formed the advisory board for the study.

*Stakeholder engagement:* We conducted a series of meetings at national, district and facility levels. The objectives of these meetings were to promote government buy-in, through the Ministry of Health, and to enable entry into the districts and facilities. Stakeholders who participated in the meetings included the ministry and district health teams, including district health officers, district- and village-level focal persons for the elimination of mother-to-child transmission; the health facility in-charge; hospital superintendents; and Ministry of Health representatives from the AIDS control program (particularly those coordinating the elimination of mother-to-child transmission and HIV counseling and testing services).

*Orientation of staff and all health workers at the selected health facilities:* The study team oriented health facility staff, including nurses and midwives, on the HIVST intervention to ensure all health workers at the facility were competent in supporting implementation and follow-up of study participants.

*Staff recruitment and training:* We recruited one study coordinator to lead coordination and implementation of study activities across sites. At the start of the study, we recruited three site coordinators, who doubled as midwives and trained counselors for the study, and nine research assistants. We recruited three more research assistants to support follow-up activities, due to overlap between recruitment and follow-up.

#### 2.1.2 Phase 2: Project implementation

This phase involved screening participants for eligibility, recruiting women and men into the study, and conducting month 1 and month 3 follow-ups.

Screening and selection of participants eligible for the study: Together with the health workers at the ANC, all pregnant women received health education upon arrival at the ANC clinic. The nurse informed the women about this study, focusing on partner HIV testing. As the women waited for their clinical examination, existing and new ANC attendees were screened for eligibility.

We administered baseline interviews to all eligible women who consented to participate. We obtained a list of household members from all women in the intervention arm to determine the number of adults in the household and, hence, the number of kits to give each woman. We provided HIVST procedures and information, test kits and pre- and post-test information, referral resource lists for women in the intervention arm and a month 1 follow-up date for each woman and her partner.

Women allocated to the intervention arm watched a video, translated into Luganda, that presented information on HIVST procedures. The purpose of the video was to enhance the women's perception of the procedures and enable them to explain the procedures to their partners and other adults in the household.

The women and their partners in the standard of care arm received a month 1 follow-up date. We also conducted follow-up interviews at month 1 and month 3.

#### 2.2 Polymerase chain reaction sub-study

At the month 1 follow-up visit – which may have been some weeks after the test was performed, and well outside the approved window for reading the test – we asked each HIVST participant to bring the used test kits back to the clinic. In the questionnaire, we asked participants to inspect the used kit and interpret the test result displayed on the window of the test device.

The interviewers also recorded their own reading of the used test kit result. We interpreted results as negative if only one "control" band was displayed, positive if two bands ("control" and "test") were displayed, however faint the test line was, and invalid if it could not be interpreted. All those individuals whose kits had two bands were noted and sent for a confirmatory test using the rapid blood test.

At the month 1 follow-up visit, some used test kits showed weak positive "test" bands indicating HIV positivity. In many cases, the participant had read the tests as negative when they had first performed the test. The majority of the confirmatory test results conducted on participants with weak bands were negative. This discrepancy was attributed either to user error or to the kit.

Recognizing the importance of correct diagnosis for these individuals, and the importance of understanding the differential performance of the HIV testing systems, we prepared a list of individuals with weak positive bands on HIVST and held engagement meetings with the Uganda national health laboratory services team, with the help of the Ministry of Health.

To capture individuals' experiences and allow direct comparison between testing modalities, we designed a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) sub-study, in which we planned to re-contact participants with weak positive bands on HIVST. In this PCR sub-study, we tested three methods simultaneously – HIVST, standard of care rapid testing and using a blood sample for PCR gold standard testing.

#### 2.2.1 Re-contacting participants

Using the study tracking forms, we retrieved the telephone numbers of all participants whose HIVST kits had weak bands (whether or not they had interpreted the results as positive or negative). The study team designed two separate messages, one to use over the phone and another at the facility, and a checklist for the PCR sub-study.

Both messages were translated into Luganda to maintain uniformity. Site coordinators assigned to the three study sites underwent a one-day refresher training to familiarize themselves with the scripts and checklist. We reached out to all participants with telephone contacts and made appointments for re-testing and brief interviews.

#### 2.2.2 Procedures for re-testing

While at the facility, we offered participants more information about the objective of the study and asked them how they stored their kits after the initial test. This was followed by a repeat oral self-test under the observation of the trained site coordinator, who doubled as counselor.

After reading the oral self-test results, the participants were led to the laboratory for a rapid blood-based HIV test, following the national algorithm. A laboratory technician drew one blood sample to use for the rapid test and the DNA/PCR test. Clearly labeled samples were delivered to the national laboratory, using hub riders, after two days of sample collection for up-country sites and every day for Entebbe Hospital.

#### 2.3 Study extension to oversample HIV-positive women

In the preliminary analysis of phase 1 results, the number of male partners of HIVpositive women reached was too small, at 32 of 77 (41.6%), to permit meaningful statistical comparisons. With support from the International Initiative for Impact Evaluation, the study was extended for seven months (November 2017 to June 2018) to over-sample HIV-positive participants, increase the number of positives and increase power to assess linkage to care across the two study arms. The request to extend the study was approved by the Makerere University School of Public Health Higher Degrees Research and Ethics Committee.

In line with the initial study procedures, we enrolled an additional 104 pregnant women (84 HIV-positive and 20 HIV-negative) in this extension to increase the number of index HIV-positive women. This increased the sample size in the intervention arm from 777 to 847, and in the control arm from 737 to 771. We recruited the 20 HIV-negative women to reduce stigmatization that might have resulted from enrolling only HIV-positive women.

We conducted structured interviews with 104 pregnant women at baseline, one month and three months post-baseline, and with their male partners at three months after enrollment of the women. We collected quantitative data using paper copies and later entered the data in the REDCap system.

# 2.4 Study extension to assess long-term linkage to care for HIV-positive men and coping among discordant couples who self-tested for HIV

Results from phases 1 and 2 demonstrated potentially poor linkage to care among male partners who self-tested for HIV. This was partly attributable to the short follow-up period that characterized phase 1 and 2 sub-studies. Although the scientific literature is sparse on the subject of linkage to care among individuals using HIVST, we expected to see an increase over time, underscoring the importance of a longer follow-up period to accurately determine linkage to care for HIV-positive men who self-tested.

Qualitative findings from a formative study conducted prior to the implementation of the current trial indicated that participants were afraid that HIVST could result in marital instability, due to the absence of pre- and post-test counseling, especially if one of the partners was HIV-positive (Matovu et al. 2017). Previous studies have found that marital dissolution is more likely in HIV-discordant couples than in concordant HIV-negative or concordant HIV-positive couples (de Walque and Kline 2012).

Although we saw only minor incidents of marital instability among couples enrolled into the HIVST study in phases 1 and 2, we anticipated that HIV-discordant couples who selftested for HIV might have experienced challenges in ensuring marital stability, compared with other types of couples. Furthermore, we also anticipated greater challenges in cases where the female partner was HIV-positive than in those where the male partner was. These observations informed the need to conduct longer-term follow-up of couples in HIV-discordant relationships.

All men who tested positive in HIVST, as well as HIV-discordant couples, were identified and extracted from the main phase 1 and 2 databases. Using information from the clients' tracking forms, we sought to identify and interview all HIV-positive men and HIV-discordant couples who were enrolled in phases 1 and 2 to determine their linkage to care and explore their coping mechanisms following HIVST. Couples who were found to have coping issues were referred to organizations that deal with domestic violence-related challenges.

We collected quantitative data using interviewer-administered questionnaires and used in-depth interview guides to collect qualitative data.

#### 2.5 Theory of change and key assumptions

The theory of change that guided this study is shown in Figure 1.

We made several key assumptions in developing our theory of change. First, we assumed that the counseling and training provided to the women in the intervention arm would increase their motivation and self-efficacy to take the self-testing kits home and present them to their husbands.

We assumed that having a self-testing kit would mitigate against common barriers to HIVST among men, including lost work time, transportation costs and stigma. We assumed that self-testing would reduce these barriers by increasing the men's sense of privacy, convenience and low cost associated with HIV testing, leading to an increased likelihood of HIV testing.

Furthermore, we assumed that having an HIV kit would increase the men's sense of selfefficacy, control and ownership of the process of HIV testing, increasing the likelihood that they would test. Our theory of the health impact of testing rested on the assumption that men testing positive were able to link to care and that medication was available.

In previous research with pregnant women delivering kits to their male partners (Gichangi et al. 2017), we found very high rates of couples testing and, consequently, very high rates of disclosure. Thus, previous research supports the hypothesis that home-based self-testing may result in high rates of disclosure, as well as linkage to care.

Based on our theory of change, we formulated hypotheses that the impact of the intervention might vary by age, marital status, education and religious affiliation, because these factors could be related to the women's self-efficacy and motivation to take the kits home and present them to the men, as well as the men's likelihood to respond positively and test for HIV. In addition, we planned to test for differential effects by study site, because these and other factors might differ across sites.

#### Figure 1: Theory of change



#### 2.6 Study time frame

In planning the time frame for the anticipated effects, most men were expected to test with the self-testing kit within the first month after pregnant female partners presented the kits. The study was therefore designed with two follow-up visits – a one-month follow-up to try to capture the anticipated early uptake and a three-month follow-up to provide a somewhat longer-term perspective on uptake of HIV testing during pregnancy. However, a longer follow-up, after three months, was conducted for the men who tested HIV-positive and the serodiscordant couples, as described in Section 2.4.





#### 2.6.1 Month 0

Month 0 was characterized by preparatory activities that included completing protocol and data collection tools, study registration, obtaining Institutional Review Board approval, stakeholder analysis and engagement, and establishing and meeting of the Ministry of Health oversight committee. Additionally, we performed pre-implementation site visits to facilities and protocol adoption. Protocol development involved designing facility-specific patient flow charts and the enrollment protocol, which included educational materials and referral resource lists.

Other activities included translation of HIVST kit user information and HIVST kit procurement, recruitment and training of staff, purchasing and programming of tablets for data collection, pilot testing of tools and orientation of providers at the selected facilities.

Screening, identification and enrollment of eligible women were scheduled to start in January 2016 and end in March 2016. These activities were delayed for two to four months by unforeseen hitches, which included:

- change of study site from Mityana to Nakaseke Hospital, because another study that involved the same population was due to start in Mityana. This was to avoid contamination and over-burdening of the pregnant women. Among the other facilities supported by Mildmay Uganda, Nakaseke was selected because it had the highest outpatient department and ANC attendance, which was desirable to achieve the recruitment targets. The change was made after Institutional Review Board approval of the protocol amendment;
- shipment of HIVST kits to Uganda was delayed by three months. This time was used to train interviewers and prepare health facilities for the study. We rolled out the study on 25 July 2016, as soon as the HIVST kits arrived; and
- lower daily ANC attendance coupled with one clinic's running four ANC days a week instead of five – as well as many women's having partners who had tested in the previous six months – reduced the number of eligible women per clinic day and consequently reduced daily enrolments. Recruitment for phases 1 and 2 went on for three months instead of the planned two months.

#### 2.6.2 Follow-up visits (month 1, month 3 and long-term follow-up)

During month 1 and month 3 follow-ups, the teams concentrated on conducting follow-up interviews. However, this activity was delayed because of the overlap with enrollment, which increased workload. Month 3 follow-up for phase 1 was completed in February 2017, and phase 2 follow-up began in November 2017 and was completed in May 2018. Long-term follow-up began in July 2018 and was completed in October 2018.

#### 2.7 Primary and secondary outcomes of interest

The study had two primary outcomes: (1) uptake of HIV testing by the male partners, and (2) linkage to care among HIV-positive partners across the two study arms. Secondary outcomes included the number of HIV infections identified in the two study arms, negative social outcomes, costing analysis of HIVST and coping skills for discordant couples who self-tested for HIV.

### 3. Data and methods

#### 3.1 Research ethics

We obtained approval to conduct this study from Makerere University School of Public Health's Higher Degrees, Research and Ethics Committee (Protocol Number 392), the Uganda National Council for Science and Technology (Protocol Number HS 2022) and

the Medical University of South Carolina. All participants consented to participate, and interviewers emphasized that participation was voluntary and participants were free to opt out at any time.

To maximize the study protocol's relevance for scale-up by the Uganda Ministry of Health, study participants received only minimal compensation for their participation. Those whose follow-up dates coincided with a regular ANC visit, or those with an interview conducted at home or over the telephone, received 5,000 Ugandan shillings, equivalent to about US\$1.40, for their time. Those who came to the facility to provide an interview on a day that was not a regular ANC visit were compensated an average of 15,000 Ugandan shillings, equivalent to US\$4.20, for their time and transportation costs.

#### 3.2 Power calculation and sample size determination

We estimated our sample size based on a power calculation for a superiority test between the intervention and the control to determine whether HIVST availability resulted in a significant increase in HIV testing uptake by male partners. We considered our study design to be a cluster-randomized trial, although we did not expect our clusters would have any substantial intraclass correlation (ICC). The women coming to a clinic on any given day might have been equally likely to come on a different day; therefore, our clusters were not correlated in the usual sense.

Our estimates assumed that the proportion of male partners testing in the control arm would be similar to the average reported proportion of 11.6 percent currently estimated for Mildmay Uganda clinics. We hypothesized that arm 2 (the intervention group, with self-testing kits) would have the highest rate of male partner HIV testing. We determined that an improved proportion of 20 percent was the minimum that would justify scaling up the program to the national level in Uganda, and calculated the sample size to detect this effect.

With the cluster-randomized design, each facility would have three data collectors, each expected to recruit and interview 5 women per day at the ANC clinic; thus, each cluster was estimated as 15 participants (1 cluster per facility per day). With a cluster size of 15, and male partner testing rates of 11.6 percent versus 20 percent, we estimated that with 50 clusters (750 women or couples) per arm, we would have this statistical power:

- 0.89 with ICC = 0.07;
- 0.93 with ICC = 0.05;
- 0.96 with ICC = 0.03; and
- 0.99 with ICC < 0.01.

With an assumed 10 percent attrition rate, the above sample size would have more than 80 percent power to detect the 20 percent uptake. With a total of 100 clusters across three facilities, 750 women were estimated to be recruited in 8 weeks.

#### 3.2.1 Phase 2 sample size

An additional 120 women (100 HIV-positive and 20 HIV-negative), with equal numbers per arm, were recruited in this 7-month extension, in an attempt to reach more partners of HIV-positive women. The HIV-negative women were enrolled to reduce stigma resulting from enrolling only HIV-positive women. In other words, if we only enrolled HIV-positive women in the study, then any woman enrolling in the study could be identified as

HIV-positive, which would be stigmatizing. This additional enrollment increased the total sample size from 750 to 810 in each study arm.

Again, we considered all women recruited each day from each study clinic to constitute one cluster. However, because this phase of the study focused primarily on HIV-positive women, many clusters were very small, with only one or two women. The design of our study and the small size of the clusters led us to expect a very small ICC. Nevertheless, we continued to consider the essential design of our study to be a cluster-randomized trial for purposes of the primary analysis.

#### 3.2.2 Phase 3 sample size

In the self-testing arm during phase 1 and phase 2 of the study, 42 men tested positive for HIV. Of these men, one died after testing positive. The team planned to follow up with all remaining 41 men in the self-testing arm who had tested positive for HIV (34 in phase 1 and 7 in phase 2) and assess coping skills among 75 discordant couples.

We further planned to conduct 27 in-depth interviews with nine purposely selected HIVpositive men (three who linked to care and are still in care, three who linked but dropped out and three who had not linked into care at the time of follow-up); and nine purposely selected couples (three with HIV-positive male partners and six with HIV-positive female partners).

# 3.3 Sampling strategy, recruitment and participants' assignment to study arms

To minimize contamination between study arms, we used clinic day as the unit of randomization, rather than individual randomization. We anticipated that this strategy would reduce contamination, because women coming to the clinic on a given day usually spent multiple hours at the clinic together in the waiting area and might be expected to talk and compare notes about the study. Each day in each clinic was a separate cluster.

All women recruited from a particular clinic on a particular day were randomized to the same study arm. We randomized clinic day clusters to two study arms – control for standard of care and the other one for the HIVST intervention. A biostatistics doctoral student from Dr Korte's department generated the list of random numbers used to assign each sequential clinic day to either the control or intervention. We generated separate lists of random numbers to choose participants for eligibility screening each day from the study clinics.

Each morning during recruitment, the study coordinator unmasked the clinic day allocation and random number list for the cluster (clinic day), and communicated this to the study team at each of the facilities. All three facilities were randomized each day to the same study arm. This randomization strategy was designed to ensure that any site differences would not bias our findings.

At cluster level, a site coordinator generated a sampling frame daily as the women sequentially registered for the ANC clinic arrived. The site coordinator then used the list of simple random numbers received from the study coordinator to pick out women whose registered number matched the random one for screening and enrollment if they were eligible. Women who declined or were not eligible were replaced with the next random number from the recruitment list.

Depending on the number of women registering at the clinic each day, and on eligibility criteria, some women may not have been approached on some days if the recruitment limit had already been filled for that day. On the other hand, clinic attendance on some days at the smaller sites was lower than expected, leading us to recruit every eligible, willing woman at the clinic that day. Participants were not aware of the study arm to which they were assigned, leaving no room for them to influence their randomization assignment. Furthermore, study staff did not know until each morning whether that day would be an intervention day or a control day.

In the last phase of recruitment, we recruited providers, women, men and other family members for in-depth interviews.

#### 3.4 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Every pregnant woman attending ANC in Mpigi HC4, Entebbe and Nakaseke hospitals was eligible for participation if she had a male partner she saw at least once a week, if the male partner was at least 18 years old, if his HIV status was negative or unknown and if he had not tested for HIV in the past six months.

Women were asked about intimate partner violence, but concern about intimate partner violence did not constitute an exclusion criterion. However, women were free to decline study participation for any reason, and participants were carefully monitored for instances of intimate partner violence throughout the study. Specifically, during follow-up interviews, women were asked if they experienced any form of intimate partner violence, and those reporting that they had experienced physical or sexual violence were referred to MIFUMI, an organization involved in gender-based violence prevention and psychosocial activities in Central region, for further support.

MIFUMI works closely with Mildmay Uganda to address gender-based violence issues reported by Mildmay's clients. Given the fears about potential violence associated with HIVST, all women were provided with information on existing referral networks and the site coordinator's telephone contact, and they were encouraged to call the site coordinator whenever they experienced any form of violence. The site coordinator supported women experiencing intimate partner violence to link to MIFUMI or any other organization of their choice.

Figure 3: CONSORT flow diagram showing the participants' enrollment and followup trajectory (phase 1)



#### 3.5 Sources and methods of data collection

At the beginning of the study, we used Android tablet computers to collect data. We used the REDCap system, including a secure server at the Medical University of South Carolina, and an offline Android application that could be used with the tablets. With this system, interviewers were able to collect data on the tablets whether or not they had a network connection. If a network connection was available, then interviewers could synchronize data on the tablet with the server. The REDCap system encountered several serious challenges relating to the use of the tablets. As data collection proceeded, the study coordinator and interviewers at all three study sites reported problems with long wait times as the tablets attempted to synchronize and update the data.

After follow-up visits had begun, we realized that some of the data had not been synchronized with the server. We then used paper records to collect data while working to isolate the problem, and eventually decided to continue collecting data on paper. For the remainder of the study, we used the online REDCap system to enter data from paper copies.

#### 3.5.1 Quantitative data collection methods

We used interviewer-administered questionnaires to collect quantitative data, including cost, and we used key informant interviews and in-depth interviews to collect qualitative data.

We used the following tools to collect different information:

- pre-enrolment screening questionnaire in ANC clinic demographic and behavioral information used to screen the women for eligibility to join the study;
- baseline questionnaire (administered as soon as participants consented) basic background characteristics from the women about themselves and their families, also used to determine how many kits the women would take home for adult family members;
- tracking tool information used for contacting participants for follow-up in the field to ensure retention in the study, including the residence and particular features around the residence, preferred mode of follow-up and available contacts that could be used to trace the participants;
- female follow-up questionnaire (for ANC clients at month 1 and month 3) behaviors, attitudes, communication, HIVST experiences and other relevant parameters for male partners and other adult family members;
- male follow-up questionnaire similar to the female questionnaire, but specific to male partners;
- long-term follow-up questionnaire HIV testing behaviors, shame and internalized stigma, and coping mechanisms for discordant couples; the information was similar, but specific to the sex of respondents; and
- costing tools facility and volunteer time, facility-level assessment of monthly resources, HIVST kit log, above-site coordination and supervision costs for Mildmay Uganda and management costs for investigators.

#### 3.5.2 Qualitative data collection methods for phase 1

We conducted in-depth interviews after the main study outcome had been ascertained; in other words, after the last follow-up visits. During the in-depth interviews, we explored:

- the anticipated fears/barriers that women had in mind on being asked to introduce the HIVST kits to their male partners;
- the strategies they used to deliver the kits to their male partners; and
- what happened after HIVST, including any negative or positive social outcomes post-testing.

We explored similar issues among male partners (for example, men's initial thoughts about HIVST when their partners introduced the kits to them) to triangulate the data obtained from female partners, and to capture their perceptions and experiences regarding HIVST. Specifically, we explored whether men were comfortable receiving HIVST kits from their female partners or whether it would have been better if the men had introduced the kits to their female partners.

The information generated from these in-depth interviews is relevant for our understanding of the quantitative results (which will be reported elsewhere) and for greater understanding of the assumptions underlying the theory of change that informed the design of the intervention. All data collected were recorded on digital recorders with permission from the participants. Interviews lasted about 1–2 hours. All participants who consented to be interviewed and who actually participated in the interviews were compensated for their time and had their travel costs refunded.

#### 3.5.3 Qualitative data collection methods for phase 3

We conducted in-depth interviews with 27 purposely selected respondents to explore HIVST behaviors and experience, linkage to care for HIV-positive men only, and coping mechanisms and changes in sexual behaviors for discordant couples. All interviews were audio-recorded and lasted 90 minutes, on average.

#### 3.6 Strategies to avoid bias and address spill-over and contamination

To avoid contamination between the two study arms, they were randomized by clinic day. Enrolling all women who came on a particular day in the same arm minimized social interaction and thus contamination between study arms.

To avoid selection bias, study arm was randomly assigned. Eligible women who chose to enroll were compared to those who did not using data from the screening and preenrollment questionnaires to evaluate possible selection bias.

To assess whether participants in the control arm bought kits from those in the intervention arm or elsewhere, we included a question about HIV testing from any source in the follow-up questionnaires. The data were incorporated into the main analysis of HIV testing and sub-analyses conducted to evaluate HIV testing via the self-testing kit, clinical testing, home-based testing by a community health worker or any other means of HIV testing.

We were also concerned about social desirability bias, where women enrolled in the intervention arm might report that their partner had tested when they had not. The number of kits issued to women was based on the number of adults in the households and labeled. Women were asked to bring back used kits at the follow-up visit, and interviewers verified whether they had done so. Before asking whether a partner had tested, study staff told each woman that they understood that the woman's partner might not have tested for HIV.

#### 3.7 Data quality control measures

Prior to implementation, experienced interviewers with a university education were recruited and trained for five days in research and interview skills and in the details of the

study, including data collection tools. The study tools were piloted and corrections made before full implementation. During implementation, each site team met every day after work to discuss unusual cases. The interviewers and investigators met weekly to discuss emerging issues, and weekly supportive supervision visits were conducted to offer additional timely assistance to the sites.

Initially, tablets with programmed skip patterns in the questionnaires enhanced the quality of data collected. After we switched to paper data collection, we continued to monitor data issues and quality control through team meetings and regular monitoring of the data entered into REDCap.

We conducted refresher training for the three best-performing interviewers before implementing the phase 2 and 3 sub-studies. Emerging issues were addressed mainly during supervision visits and through telephone calls and emails.

#### 3.8 Problems or challenges

The following challenges were encountered during the study span:

- Change of study site: before we began data collection, another study targeting HIV-infected pregnant women in Mityana Hospital was discovered. There was a serious risk that HIVST interventions might influence the other study outcomes, and vice versa. We assessed alternative sites and selected Nakaseke Hospital to replace Mityana Hospital;
- Late delivery of kits: OraQuick kits were received in Uganda on 12 July 2016. This delayed the launch of data collection activities;
- Low enrollment pace: enrollment pace was lower than expected for various reasons. One facility (Entebbe) ran ANC clinics four days a week instead of five, like the other clinics. Nakaseke had a lower patient load with smaller clusters, and the partner testing reported at screening was generally higher than previously estimated, based on routine facility data. This extended the enrollment period from the planned 8 weeks to 12 weeks, creating a longer overlap between recruitment and follow-up interviews and increasing the load of interviews;
- Network and connectivity problems: Internet challenges were encountered in all sites, especially in Nakaseke. This affected data synchronization, and we changed the mode of data collection to hard copies;
- Access to women's partners: a few HIV-positive women denied interviewers access to their partners; and
- Loss to follow-up: some couples had moved to unknown destinations; hence, we were unable to follow up with them.

#### 3.9 Data analysis methods

#### 3.9.1 Evaluation strategy

Our primary analysis for estimating the impact of the intervention was to perform a comparison of the primary outcome (male partner testing) in the intervention group versus the control group. In addition to unadjusted analyses comparing these two groups, we fit log-linear models with and without accounting for clustering by clinic day, and testing for covariate imbalance at baseline.

We accounted for clustering using a random effect for clinic day, because this was the unit of group-level randomization across clinics. In addition, we included study site as a fixed effect and tested study site (as well as other pre-determined, hypothesized effect modifiers) for multiplicative interactions with intervention assignment.

We used log-binomial models to enable estimation of the relative risk, which we judged the most appropriate measure of association in this longitudinal study with interval-based assessment of a high-prevalence outcome measure (HIV testing).

#### 3.9.2 Tests for differential attrition

We evaluated follow-up in the intervention and control groups by assessing the proportion of participants returning for each follow-up visit. Overall, we achieved a good follow-up rate, with 1,244 of 1,514 (82.2%) women returning for the month 1 interview and 1,207 of 1,514 (79.7%) returning for the month 3 interview in phase 1. In phase 2, 103 of 104 (99.0%) women returned for month 1 and 99 of 104 (95.2%) returned for month 3. We compared the attrition rates using a chi-square test of two proportions and found no difference in attrition by study arm.

Follow-up rates were somewhat lower for men, with approximately 1,110 of 1,514 (73%) and 1,054 of 1,514 (70%) men participating in month 1 and month 3, respectively, in phase 1; and 88 of 104 (85%) and 69 of 104 (66.3%) men participating in month 1 and month 3, respectively, in phase 2.

#### 3.9.3 Primary specifications

The final analysis consisted of participants with sufficient follow-up data to be included in the primary analysis. To be included in the final analysis, participants needed to complete at least one of the two follow-up interviews. In random-effects log-binomial models accounting for clustering by clinic day, we estimated the risk ratio for HIV testing among male partners, comparing the two study arms. The primary outcome measure was the woman's self-report about whether her male partner had tested for HIV since the beginning of the study.

Overall, we also conducted analyses accounting for the reports of each woman and man, by considering a man to have tested if either he or the woman reported that he had done so. Although our primary outcome was the woman's report, we constructed the male and female combined outcome to provide a more sensitive measure, accounting for men who reported having tested for HIV but had not revealed this to the women.

#### 3.9.4 Balance tables

We assessed possible imbalances between the intervention and control groups by comparing baseline sociodemographic characteristics of participants. We used t-tests and chi-square tests, as appropriate, to test for any differences in these variables, using a nominal p-value of 0.05 to denote statistical significance.

#### 3.9.5 Data cleaning

We had major problems with the electronic tablets used for data capture and spent considerable effort making sure we recovered all data that could be recovered from them. In data cleaning, we merged and sorted data from several sources (properly synchronized data, tablet logs, emergency data dumps and data entered separately from paper records) to produce a data set with complete data for each participant. In univariate and bivariate analyses, the data management team cleaned the data to check for outliers. Outliers and implausible values were very rare in the data set, due to electronic data entry and limits placed on variables to be entered. We did not impute any values for missing data. We conducted the analysis as we had planned in the initial protocol.

#### 3.9.6 Qualitative data analysis

The team had all digitally recorded interviews transcribed verbatim and translated from Luganda to English prior to data analysis. Initially, researchers manually read through 10 transcripts to identify emerging themes based on the primary objective of the study; namely, to document perceptions, HIVST delivery strategies and post-test experiences of women and men with regard to HIVST.

The team coded each emerging theme as belonging to perceptions, strategies or experiences through a process of constant comparison and consensus building. They assigned a code to each theme and used these codes to review the remaining 22 transcripts to identify perceptions, strategies or post-test experiences pertaining to HIVST, while noting down any other emerging themes along the way.

At the end of the analysis, we categorically grouped all emerging themes into four main themes: (a) perceptions about HIVST; (b) strategies women used to deliver the kits to their male partners; (c) experiences of using HIVST kits; and (d) post-test experiences following HIVST.

We conducted data analysis inductively, following a thematic framework approach. The team followed similar procedures (initial reading of the transcripts to identify emerging themes, grouping themes into meaningful codes and using the codes to review the 25 transcripts) in conducting analyses for coping mechanisms and linkage to care at the end of the phase 3 follow-up visit.

#### 3.9.7 Cost-effectiveness analysis

Costing was done from the provider perspective, taking into account only costs borne by the study team toward service provision, using a six-month time horizon. Cost categories were:

- above-facility personnel costs and operational costs for supervision of facility staff
- facility personnel time costs
- training costs
- above-site assets (used by above-facility supervisors)
- facility assets
- facility operational cost
- facility supplies.

Above-facility personnel included supervisors who visited facilities to supervise implementation of services. Above-site operational costs and assets included costs incurred by above-site personnel to coordinate and supervise implementation of activities. Facility personnel costs included:

- time spent by personnel to conduct health education
- counseling of mothers

- screening for eligibility of self-testing
- training of mothers on HIVST
- follow-up with mothers, partners and family members
- linkage of partners and family members to care
- testing partners and family members
- distribution of self-test kits
- mobilization
- organizing patient flow at the facility.

On a daily basis, staff responded to a questionnaire to indicate how much time they spent doing the above activities. The total amount of staff time spent was multiplied by the unit hourly personnel cost to obtain the total cost of staff time. Costing used a micro-costing approach with identification of resource inputs, quantifying resources, obtaining unit cost for each resource and obtaining costs. Annualized costs of capital costs were determined using a 3 percent discount rate and halved to reflect a six-month cost.

The useful life of capital assets was based on estimates from Kenya. Assets bought in past years were evaluated at 2016 values, prior to being annualized. Training costs were annualized, assuming that major retraining would be done after two years of the initial training as a consequence of staff turnover or policy changes.

The cost of the intervention was evaluated as cost per partner tested and cost per HIVpositive partner identified. Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios (ICERs) were based on incremental costs between intervention and control arms and incremental effects, including incremental number of partners tested and partners identified as HIV-positive:

(total costs in intervention – total cost in control) / (total number tested or positive intervention – total number tested or positive control)

We were unable to assess cost per HIV-positive person linked to care, due to incomplete linkage data.

We performed one-way sensitivity analyses using the cost of self-testing kits and HIV prevalence among partners tested.

### 4. Results

#### 4.1 Quantitative findings

We approached and screened 3,704 women and enrolled 1,618 women in the study; 847 women were enrolled in the intervention arm and 771 in the control arm. The imbalance in recruitment between study arms was due to random variation in the group assignment of clinic days to either intervention or control. We recruited a similar number of clusters (clinic days) at each site. This required extending recruitment at Entebbe Hospital, because this site had only four ANC clinic days a week, compared with five days at the other clinics.

About 82.3 percent of women in the intervention arm and 84.3 percent in the control arm were successfully followed up at month 1. Some 81.5 percent of women enrolled in the intervention arm and 80.0 percent of women enrolled in the control arm were followed up

at month 3. Of the male partners 1,198 (640 intervention and 558 control) were followed up at month 1 and 1,123 (589 intervention and 534 control) were followed up at month 3.

Attrition was higher than predicted – 18.5 percent in the intervention arm and 20.2 percent in the control arm, compared with the 10 percent assumed in our power calculations. However, we compared the attrition rates using a chi-square test of two proportions and found no difference in attrition by study arm (p-value = 0.50). Follow-up rates were high enough to suggest that the study attrition was unlikely to have substantially biased our findings.

In our study, we did not believe there was any systematic bias influencing which participants with whom we were able to follow up. Therefore, we believe the results among the participants who completed follow-up are a good representation of the results we would have found if we had been able to achieve 100 percent follow-up.

Although attrition was higher than expected, the observed effect size was also higher. Therefore, our study had adequate power to show a significant effect.

Women in the intervention arm received up to four oral self-testing kits in phase 1, depending on the number of adult household members, and two kits in phase 2. Overall, 1,815 kits were distributed to women randomized in the intervention arm. Of these, 1,442 (79.4%) were used and returned, 149 (8.2%) were returned unused and 244 (13.4%) were not returned.

#### 4.1.1 Baseline characteristics

Characteristics of women at baseline, and male partners at the month 1 follow-up, are presented in Tables 1 and 2, respectively, stratified by intervention assignment.

No important differences were noted between study sites. Large numbers of participants declined to answer questionnaire items pertaining to religion and employment status. Overall, randomized intervention and control groups were comparable, with no statistically significant differences observed between groups.

Characteristic	Intervention	Control	Total	n-
	(n = 847, 52.3)	(n = 771, 47,7)	(n = 1.618)	value
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Age (vears), mean +SD	25.1 ± 5.5	25.4 ± 5.5	25.2 ± 5.5	0.79
Missing	9 (1.1)	12 (1.6)	21 (1.3)	
Age (vears), range	15–43	15–49	15–49 <sup>′</sup>	0.70
15–19	120 (14.3)	105 (13.8)	225 (14.1)	
20–24	330 (39.4)	281 (37.0)	611 (38.3)	
25–29	219 (26.1)	206 (27.1)	425 (26.6)	
30–49	169 (20.2)	167 (22.0)	336 (21.0)	
Missina	9 (1.1)	12 (1.6)	21 (1.3)	
Female level of education		(,	_ ( )	0.55
No formal education	13 (1.6)	13 (1.6)	29 (1.8)	
Nurserv	3 (0 4)	1 (0 1)	4 (0 3)	
Primary	328 (39 2)	312 (41 2)	640 (40 2)	
Post-primary/vocational	39 (4 7)	35 (4 6)	74 (4 7)	
Secondary (A or O level)	384 (45 9)	343 (45 3)	727 (45.6)	
College (middle level)	45 (5 4)	38 (5 0)	83 (5 2)	
I Iniversity	-10 (01) 22 (2.6)	12 (1 6)	34 (2 1)	
Don't know	22(2.0)	0(0)	2(0.1)	
Missing	2 (0.2) 11 (1 3)	1/(1.8)	2 (0.1)	
Religion	11 (1.5)	14 (1.0)	20 (1.0)	0 59
Catholic	97 (40 6)	84 (42 4)	130 (39 4)	0.00
Protestant	62 (25 9)	42 (21 2)	78 (23 4)	
Pentecostal	20 (12 1)	30 (15 2)	10 (20.4) 10 (11 7)	
Muslim	29 (12.1) 16 (10.3)	35 (17.7)	49 (14.7) 66 (10.8)	
Other	40(19.3)	7 (3 5)	10 (3.0)	
Missing	5 (2.1) 608 (71.8)	7 (3.3) 572 (74 2)	1 191 (72 0)	
Employment status	000 (71.0)	575 (74.5)	1,101 (73.0)	0.57
Employed for wages	35 (14 6)	20 (10 1)	55 (12 5)	0.57
Self-employed	62 (26 2)	20(10.1)	112 (25 5)	
Sell-employed Student	(20.3)	49 (24.0)	112(23.3)	
Out of work (upomployed)	3 (1.3) 33 (13 9)	1(0.3)	4 (0.9) 66 (15 0)	
Housowife	33(13.0)	33(10.0)	150 (36 2)	
Other	74(37.2)	74(37.2)	139 (30.2)	
Missing	22(11.1)	22(11.1)	439 (9.0)	
Norital status	007 (71.7)	572 (74.2)	1,179 (72.9)	0.10
Marila status	101 (11 5)	140 (10 7)	262 (16 5)	0.10
	121(14.3)	142(10.7)	203 (10.3)	
	0/9(01.3)	579 (70.4) 24 (4 E)	1,258 (79.0)	
Never married	33 (4.0)	34 (4.5)	67 (4.2)	
Divorced/separated	Z(0.Z)	3 (0.4)	5 (0.3)	
Missing	12 (1.4)	13 (1.7)	25 (1.5)	0.05
	477 (00 0)	450 (00 0)		0.95
Nakaseke Hospital	177 (20.9)	156 (20.2)	333 (20.6)	
Mpigi HC4	292 (34.5)	267 (34.6)	559 (34.6)	
Entebbe Hospital	378 (44.6)	348 (45.1)	726 (44.9)	

Table 1: Baseline characteristics of participating women by intervention or control

Notes: SD = standard deviation. <sup>a</sup> Columns may not total to 100 due to missing values. Chisquare values are based on available data and exclude missing. Fisher's exact test was used as needed when one or more cells was less than 5. \* statistical significance at p < 0.05. \*\* statistical significance at p < 0.01.

Characteristic	Intervention	Control	Total	p-
	(n = 847, 52.3)	(n = 771, 47.7)	(n = 1,618)	value
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Age (years), mean <u>+</u> SD	31.9 <u>+</u> 8.2	32.6 <u>+</u> 7.9	32.2 <u>+</u> 8.1	0.33
Range	18–68	19–64	18–68	
Age (years)				0.36
15–24	106 (16.9)	77 (14.0)	183 (15.5)	
25–34	324 (51.6)	278 (50.6)	602 (51.1)	
35–44	146 (23.3)	148 (26.90)	294 (25.0)	
45–68	52 (8.3)	47 (8.6)	99 (8.4)	
Missing	212 (25.0)	216 (28.0)	440 (27.2)	
Level of education				0.54
No formal education	24 (3.8)	16 (2.9)	40 (3.4)	
Primary	267 (42.1)	228 (41.1)	495 (41.6)	
Post-primary/vocational	38 (6.0)	418 (7.4)	79 (6.4)	
Secondary (A or O level)	239 (37.6)	206 (37.1)	445 (37.4)	
College (middle level)	44 (6.9)	34 (6.1)	78 (6.6)	
University	23 (3.6)	30 (5.4)	53 (4.5)	
Missing	199 (25.6)	213 (28.9)	428 (26.5)	
Religion				0.046
Catholic	168 (38.3)	169 (45.0)	337 (41.4)	
Protestant/other Christian	115 (26.2)	104 (27.7)	219 (26.9)	
Pentecostal	16 (3.6)	5 (1.3)	21 (2.6)	
Born again	45 (10.3)	26 (6.9)	71 (8.7)	
Muslim	89 (20.3)	716 (18.9)	160 (19.6)	
No religion	1 (0.2)	0 (0)	1 (0.1)	
Other	5 (1.1)	1 (0.3)	6 (0.7)	
Missing	408 (48.2)	395 (51.2)	803 (49.6)	
Employment status				0.96
Employed for wages	134 (30.7)	119 (31.7)	253 (31.2)	
Self-employed	231 (53.0)	198 (52.8)	429 (52.9)	
Business partnership	26 (6.0)	20 (5.3)	46 (5.7)	
Student	1 (0.2)	0 (0)	1 (0.1)	
Out of work (unemployed)	3 (0.7)	4 (1.1)	7 (0.9)	
Retired	1 (0.2)	1 (0.3)	2 (0.3)	
Other	40 (9.2)	33 (8.8)	73 (9.0)	
Missing	411 (48.5)	396 (51.4)	807 (52.2)	
Marital status				0.11
Currently married	84 (13.2)	101 (18.2)	185 (15.6)	
Cohabiting	531 (83.6)	439 (79.1)	970 (81.5)	
Never married	12 (1.9)	11 (2.0)	23 (1.9)	
Widowed	2 (0.3)	0 (0)	2 (0.2)	
Divorced or separated	6 (0.9)	4 (0.7)	10 (0.8)	
, Missing	212 (25.0)	216 (28.0)	428 (26.5)	

 Table 2: Month 1 characteristics of male partners of women attending antenatal

 care by intervention or control

A slight difference may be seen with educational attainment in women, with 22 of 847 (2.6%) completing university in the intervention arm versus 12 of 771 (1.6%) in the control arm. A slight difference may also be seen with reported religious affiliation in men, with 168 of 847 (38.3%) Catholics in the intervention arm versus 169 of 771

(45.0%) in the control arm, although the difference was largely in the distribution of different types of Christianity (fewer Pentecostal and born-again Christians).

At baseline, the mean age for male partners was 32.2 (8.1) and slightly more than half (602 of 1,198, or 51.1%) were between 25 and 34 years of age. The majority were cohabiting (970 of 1,198, or 81.5%), more than half were self-employed (429 of 1,198, or 52.9%) and almost half were Catholics (337 of 1,198, or 41.4%). The two study groups did not differ significantly.

#### 4.1.2 Male partners' uptake of HIV testing

In our primary comparison between intervention and control arms, the focus was on the woman's report of her male partner's having used the oral self-testing kit to test for HIV (Table 3). We present results for month 1 interviews, month 3 interviews and cumulative measures looking across both time points. In addition, we present results for the woman's report, the man's report and measures we constructed based on both reports.

In all combined measures, we took the most optimistic assumption. For example, if either partner reported that the man had tested, then we classified the man as having tested in the combined measure. At month 1 and at month 3, we attempted to contact all enrolled participants to ask about HIV testing, confirmatory testing and linkage to care.

r t			Month 1 woman's report						
Since your last interview, has your partner tested for HIV?									
(es	No	Total	RR (95% CI)						
177 (81.1)	216 (29.4)	693	3.9 (3.28–4.67)						
11 (18.9)	520 (70.7)	631							
588 (44.4)	736 (55.6)	1,324							
		294							
rt									
Since your last i	nterview, has yo	ur partner	tested for HIV?						
/es	No	Total	RR (95% CI)						
171 (29.1)	416 (70.9)	587	1.31 (1.07–1.61)						
16 (22.2)	407 (77.8)	523							
287 (25.4)	823 (74.6)	1,110							
		508							
l month 3 woma	n's report								
Male tested at m	onth 1 and/or mo	onth 3							
/es	No	Total	RR (95% CI)						
567 (70.4)	238 (29.6)	805	2.57 (2.26–2.91)						
201 (27.5)	531 (72.5)	732							
768 (50.0)	769 (50.0)	1,537							
		81							
	Since your last i 'es 77 (81.1) 11 (18.9) 88 (44.4) rt Since your last i 'es 71 (29.1) 16 (22.2) 87 (25.4) month 3 woma Male tested at m 'es 667 (70.4) 201 (27.5) '68 (50.0)	Since your last interview, has yo         Yes       No         77 (81.1)       216 (29.4)         11 (18.9)       520 (70.7)         88 (44.4)       736 (55.6)         rt       Since your last interview, has yo         Yes       No         71 (29.1)       416 (70.9)         16 (22.2)       407 (77.8)         287 (25.4)       823 (74.6)         Imonth 3 woman's report         Male tested at month 1 and/or model         765 No         767 (70.4)       238 (29.6)         201 (27.5)       531 (72.5)         768 (50.0)       769 (50.0)	Since your last interview, has your partner         Yes       No       Total         77 (81.1)       216 (29.4)       693         11 (18.9)       520 (70.7)       631         88 (44.4)       736 (55.6)       1,324         294         rt         Since your last interview, has your partner         Yes       No       Total         71 (29.1)       416 (70.9)       587         16 (22.2)       407 (77.8)       523         287 (25.4)       823 (74.6)       1,110         508         month 3 woman's report         Male tested at month 1 and/or month 3       508         Col (27.5)       531 (72.5)       732         768 (50.0)       769 (50.0)       1,537         81						

# Table 3: Primary outcome tables by intervention arm and follow-up time point – woman's report of male partner testing

Note: a Columns may not total to 100 due to missing values.

In month 1, 477 of 693 women (81.1%) reported that their male partners had tested in the intervention arm, versus 111 of 631 (18.9%) in the control arm (RR 3.9, 95% CI: 3.28–4.67). At the month 3 follow-up, women were asked whether their male partners

had tested since the last interview; 171 of 587 (29.1%) and 116 of 523 (22.2%) reported testing in the intervention and control group, respectively (RR 1.31, 95% CI: 1.07–1.61).

Looking across both follow-up time points, we defined a cumulative measure (as described above in 4.1.2) based on reported testing at either time point. For the purposes of the cumulative measure, we considered the male partner not to have tested if the response was "no/don't know" at month 1 and either missing or "no/don't know" at month 3. Based on this definition, the woman's cumulative report regarding whether her male partner had tested for HIV during the entire 3-month follow-up period was 567 of 805 (70.4%) in the intervention group versus 201 of 732 (27.5%) in the control group (RR 2.57, 95% CI: 2.26–2.91).

Some 99 percent of the women at baseline and 88.9 percent of the men at their first interview (month 1 follow-up) reported having ever been previously tested for HIV. However, 34 men (16 in the intervention arm and 18 in the control arm) were tested for the first time during the study period (RR 2.08; 95% CI: 1.19–3.63).

When combining the woman's and man's reports for testing for HIV across the whole study period, we found that 626 of 816 (76.7%) in the intervention group versus 278 of 742 (37.5%) in the control group had tested for HIV (Table 4).

Table 4: Primary outcome tables by intervention arm, combined woman's an	d
man's report of male partner testing	

	Tested	Did not test	Total n	p-value
Intervention, n (%)	626 (76.7)	190 (23.3)	816	< 0.01
Control, n (%)	278 (37.5)	464 (62.5)	742	
Total, n (row %)	904 (58.0)	654 (42.0)	1,558	

To explore heterogeneity of effects, we analyzed the group differences, stratified by prespecified potential effect modifiers: woman's age, woman's educational attainment, woman's employment status, study site and woman's baseline HIV status. We had intended to also assess religious affiliation, but were unable to do so due to large amounts of missing data for the women's religious affiliation.

To explore effect modification by age, we stratified the age of the ANC client into four categories: 15–19 years, 20–24 years, 25–29 years and 30–49 years, as Table 5 shows. We saw very little effect modification by age, with very similar risk ratios (RRs) in the four categories: 2.61, 2.34, 2.77 and 2.67, respectively.

Age 15–19 years						
	Male partner tested at month 1 and/or month 3					
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)		
Intervention, n (%)	83 (72.8)	31 (27.2)	114	2.61 (1.86–3.67)		
Control, n (%)	27 (27.8)	70 (72.2)	97			
Total	110 (52.1)	101 (47.9)	211			
Missing			14			
Age 20–24 years						
	Male partner te	sted at month 1	and/or month 3			
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)		
Intervention, n (%)	223 (70.6)	93 (29.4)	316	2.34 (1.93–2.84)		
Control, n (%)	82 (30.2)	190 (69.8)	272			
Total	305 (51.9)	283 (48.1)	588			
Missing			23			
Age 25–29 years						
	Male partner te	sted at month 1	and/or month 3			
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)		
Intervention, n (%)	149 (72.0)	58 (28.0)	207	2.77 (2.15–3.58)		
Control, n (%)	49 (25.9)	140 (74.1)	189			
Total	198 (50.0)	198 (50.0)	396			
Missing			29			
Age 30–49 years						
	Male partner tested at month 1 and/or month 3					
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)		
Intervention, n (%)	105 (65.6)	55 (34.4)	160	2.67 (1.99–3.58)		
Control, n (%)	40 (24.5)	123 (75.5)	163			
Total	145 (44.9)	178 (55.1)	323			
Missing			13			

Table 5: Primary outcome table for combined month 1 and month 3 woman'sreport by allocation day and woman's age

To explore effect modification by education, we stratified the ANC client's educational attainment into three categories – none/primary, secondary/vocational and college/university – as Table 6 shows. We saw little effect modification by educational level, with very similar RRs in the three categories: 2.44, 2.72 and 2.25, respectively.
None/primary				
	Male partnei	r tested at mor	nth 1 and/or m	onth 3
	Yes	Νο	Total	RR (95% CI)
Intervention, n (%)	220 (68.3)	102 (31.7)	3225	2.44 (2.01–2.96)
Control, n (%)	867 (28.0)	221 (72.0)	307	
Total	306 (48.7)	323 (51.4)	629	
Missing			44	
Secondary/Vocational				
	Male partnei	r tested at mor	nth 1 and/or m	onth 3
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)
Intervention, n (%)	291 (71.5)	116 (28.5)	407	2.72 (2.26–3.27)
Control, n (%)	95 (26.2)	267 (73.8)	362	
Total	386 (50.2)	383 (49.8)	769	
Missing			32	
College/University				
	Male partnei	r tested at mor	nth 1 and/or m	onth 3
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)
Intervention, n (%)	46 (71.93)	18 (28.1)	64	2.25 (1.46–3.46)
Control, n (%)	16 (32.0)	34 (68.0)	50	
Total	62 (54.4)	52 (45.6)	114	
Missing			3	

Table 6: Primary outcome tables for combined month 1 and month 3 woman'sreport by allocation day and woman's educational level

To explore effect modification by ANC client's employment status, we created three categories – employed for wages, self-employed and other – as Table 7 shows.

The very low prevalence of employment limited our statistical power to detect an interaction by employment status; however, we did see some differences in the observed impact of self-testing in these categories. Among ANC clients employed for wages, 14 of 31 male partners in the intervention arm, versus 6 of 17 in the control arm, tested for HIV during the 3-month follow-up period (RR 1.18, 95% CI: 0.73–1.90).

Interestingly, among ANC clients who were self-employed, 41 of 56 male partners in the intervention arm, versus 7 of 39 in the control group, tested for HIV (RR 3.06, 95% CI: 1.93–4.84). Among ANC clients who were neither employed for wages nor self-employed, 90 of 119 male partners in the intervention arm, versus 35 of 111 in the control arm, tested for HIV (RR 2.81, 95% CI: 2.00–3.95).

Employed for wages				
	Male partner tes	sted at month 1	and/or mo	onth 3
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)
Intervention day, n (%)	14 (45.2)	17 (54.8)	31	1.27 (0.60–2.71)
Control day, n (%)	6 (35.3)	11 (64.7)	17	
Total	20 (41.7)	28 (57.1)	48	
Missing			7	
Self-employed				
	Male partner tes	sted at month 1 a	and/or mo	onth 3
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)
Intervention day, n (%)	41 (73.2)	15 (26.8)	56	4.08 (2.05–8.12)
Control day, n (%)	7 (17.9)	32 (82.0)	39	
Total	48 (50.5)	47 (49.5)	95	
Missing			17	
Other				
	Male partner tes	sted at month 1 a	and/or mo	onth 3
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)
Intervention day, n (%)	90 (75.6)	29 (24.4)	111	2.81 (2.00–3.95)
Control day, n (%)	35 (31.5)	76 (68.5)	119	
Total	125 (54.4)	105 (45.6)	230	
Missing			42	

Table 7: Primary outcome tables for combined month 1 and month 3 woman'sreport by allocation day and woman's employment status

To explore site differences, we evaluated the intervention impact separately at Entebbe, Mpigi and Nakaseke (Table 8).

We observed comparable uptake of HIV testing in the intervention arm at the different study sites, but substantially higher testing at Nakaseke in the control arm, contributing to a lower observed intervention impact at that study site. Specifically, the RRs were 1.87 for Nakaseke, 2.97 for Mpigi and 2.71 for Entebbe.

Nakaseke				
	Male partne	r tested at mor	oth 1 and/or	month 3
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)
Intervention day, n (%)	115 (67.7)	55 (32.3)	170	1.87 (1.47–2.36)
Control day, n (%)	54 (36.2)	95 (63.8)	149	
Total	169 (53.0)	150 (47.0)	319	
Missing			14	
Mpigi				
	Male partne	r tested at mor	oth 1 and/or	month 3
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)
Intervention day, n (%)	199 (70.8)	82 (29.2)	281	2.97 (2.36-3.75)
Control day, n (%)	61 (23.8)	195 (76.2)	256	
Total	260 (48.4)	277 (51.6)	537	
Missing			22	
Entebbe				
	Male partne	r tested at mor	oth 1 and/or	month 3
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)
Intervention Day, n (%)	253 (71.5)	101 (28.5)	354	2.71 (2.24–3.29)
Control Day, n (%)	86 (26.3)	241 (73.7)	327	
Total	339 (49.8)	342 (50.2)	681	
Missing			45	

# Table 8: Primary outcome tables for combined month 1 and month 3 woman'sreport by allocation day and facility

To explore effect modification by woman's baseline HIV status, we stratified the ANC clients' baseline HIV status into three categories – HIV-positive, HIV-negative and did not receive last HIV test result – as Table 9 shows.

We saw some effect modification by baseline HIV status, with RRs in the three categories of 2.76, 2.52 and 3.6, respectively. However, these subgroup differences should be interpreted with caution, due to the small number of women in the "did not receive last HIV test result" category.

Finally, we used multivariable log-binomial models to estimate adjusted RRs and to explore subgroup heterogeneity. We fit models with clustering to account for the group-randomized study design. Overall, no covariates were imbalanced at baseline and ICCs were low, so the adjusted results with clustering were comparable to the unadjusted results shown below.

Positive HIV baseline stat	us			
	Male partner	tested at mont	h 1 and/or mo	nth 3
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)
Intervention, n (%)	65 (67.7)	31 (32.3)	96 (62.8)	2.76 (1.71–4.43)
Control, n (%)	14 (24.6)	43 (75.4)	57 (37.3)	
Total	79 (51.6)	74 (48.4)	153 (100)	
Missing			8	
Negative HIV baseline sta	tus			
	Male partner	tested at mont	h 1 and/or mo	nth 3
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)
Intervention, n (%)	471 (71.0)	192 (29.0)	663 (51.3)	2.52 (2.21–2.89)
Control, n (%)	177 (28.1)	453 (71.9)	630 (48.7)	
Total	648 (50.1)	645 (49.9)	1293 (100)	
Missing			67	
Did not receive last HIV te	est result			
	Male partner	tested at mont	h 1 and/or mo	nth 3
	Yes	No	Total	RR (95% CI)
Intervention, n (%)	9 (60.0)	6 (40.0)	15 (45.5)	3.6 (1.18–10.95)
Control, n (%)	3 (16.7)	15 (83.3)	18 (54.6)	
Total	12 (36.4)	21 (63.6)	33 (100)	
Missing			1	

Table 9: Primary outcome tables for combined month 1 and month 3 woman'sreport by allocation day and woman's baseline HIV status

We found that male partners in the intervention arm were much more likely to test for HIV than men in the control arm, with an RR (95% CI) of 2.6 (2.3, 2.9) after controlling for the woman's baseline HIV status, employment status and study site. Regarding subgroup differences in intervention impact, we found significant site differences (interaction p-value < 0.01 for Mpigi versus Nakaseke, and p = 0.02 for Entebbe versus Nakaseke).

We also found possible subgroup differences by woman's employment status, with an interaction p-value of 0.05 for a difference in intervention impact comparing self-employed versus employed for wages, and p = 0.10 for other employment status versus employed for wages.

In addition, although no significant interaction was detected between the intervention arm and woman's baseline HIV status, we explored stratified RRs by HIV status, because this was a major secondary question of interest. Adjusted RRs, stratifying by study site, were 1.9 (1.5, 2.3) for Nakaseke, 3.0 (2.4, 3.7) for Mpigi and 2.7 (2.2, 3.3) for Entebbe. Adjusted RRs, stratifying by woman's employment status, were 1.3 (0.61, 2.9) for employed for wages, 3.6 (1.9, 7.1) for self-employed and 2.6 (2.3, 2.9) for other employment status. Finally, adjusted RRs, stratifying for woman's baseline HIV status, were 2.8 (1.7, 4.4) for women who were HIV-positive and 2.5 (2.2, 2.9) for women who were HIV-negative or whose status was unknown.

### 4.1.3 HIV case finding

When combining the woman's and man's reports across the whole study period, 53 men tested positive of the 904 who reported testing, with 42 in the intervention arm and 11 in the control arm. In Table 10, we show overall testing results among the 904 who reported testing.

Study arm	Missing Pos	itive N	egative	Indeterminate	Did not receive result	Total	p-value
Intervention, n (%)	6 (1.0) 42 (	6.7) 56	69 (90.9)	6 (1.0)	3 (0.5)	626	0.02
Control, n (%)	10 (3.6) 11 (	4.0) 25	54 (91.4)	1 (0.4)	2 (0.7)	278	
Total, n (row %)	16 (1.8) 53 (	5.9) 82	23 (91.0)	7 (0.8)	5 (0.6)	904	

Table 10: Results of man's HIV testing, combined across woman's and man's report and month 1 and 3, stratified by allocation day

### 4.1.4 Confirmatory testing and linkage to care among male partners

As Table 11 shows, after 1 month of follow-up, of 307 men who tested using oral self-testing, 26 (almost 9%) went for confirmatory testing, and 281 did not.

### Table 11: Confirmatory testing for male partners who used HIVST as reported by woman in month 1

HIVST result	Confirmatory testing,	No confirmatory testing,	Total	p-value
	n (%)	n (%)		
Positive	4 (25.0)	12 (75.0)	16	0.06
Negative	22 (7.8)	262 (92.3)	284	
Indeterminate	0 (0)	7 (100)	7	
Total	26 (8.5)	281 (91.5)	307	

Of the men who tested positive on the HIVST, 4 of 16 (25.0%) went for confirmatory testing, compared with 22 of 284 (7.8%) of the men testing negative and zero of 7 (0%) of the men who tested indeterminate in HIVST. Even with our small sample size, this difference in confirmatory testing was substantial enough to show borderline statistical significance (p = 0.06).

Furthermore, this difference in rates of confirmatory testing was in the expected direction, with those testing positive appearing to have higher rates of confirmatory testing than those with negative or indeterminate results with the self-testing kit.

Based on the combined woman's and man's reports at both time points (Table 12), 472 men used the HIVST and answered the confirmatory testing question. Of those 472, 102 went for confirmatory testing and 356 did not. Of the men testing positive in HIVST, 11 of 26 (42.3%) went for confirmatory testing, compared with 89 of 436 (20.4%) of the men testing negative and 2 of 5 (40%) of the men testing indeterminate (p-value < 0.01).

HIVST result	Missing	Went for confirmatory test	Did not go for confirmatory test	Total	p-value
Missing, n (%)	2 (100.0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	2	< 0.01
Positive, n (%)	0 (0)	11 (42.3)	15 (57.7)	26	
Negative, n (%)	12 (2.8)	89 (20.4)	335 (76.8)	436	
Indeterminate, n (%)	0 (0)	2 (40.0)	3 (60.0)	5	
Did not receive results, n (%)	0 (0)	0 (0)	3 (100.0)	3	
Total, n (row %)	14 (3.0)	102 (21.6)	356 (75.4)	472	

Table 12: Confirmatory testing for male partners who used HIVST, as reported by woman or man, month 1 or 3

Linkage to care among male partners testing positive for HIV was evaluated based on the woman's report and the man's report. Based on the woman's report (Table 13), during the first month of follow-up, 12 men in the intervention arm and two men in the control arm tested positive, with one from the intervention group and two from the control group linking to care.

Table 13: Linkage to care for male partners as reported by woman, stratified by intervention arm and follow-up period

Variable	Yes	No	Total	p-value
Month 1 woman's report				
Intervention day, n (%)	1 (8.3)	11 (91.7)	12	0.03
Control day, n (%)	2 (100)	0 (0)	2	
Total	3 (21.4)	11 (78.6)	14	
Month 3 woman's report				
Intervention day, n (%)	1 (14.3)	6 (85.7)	7	0.08
Control day, n (%)	2 (100)	0 (0)	2	
Total	3 (33.3)	6 (66.7)	9	
Combined month 1 and mor	nth 3 woman's re	port		
Intervention day, n (%)	2 (10.5)	17 (89.5)	19	< 0.01
Control day, n (%)	4 (100)	0 (0)	4	
Total	6 (26.1)	17 (73.9)	23	

Note: Chi-square values are based on available data and exclude missing. Fisher's exact test was used as needed when one or more cells were less than 5.

Over the entire three-month follow-up period, based on the woman's report, 19 men in the intervention arm and 4 men in the control arm tested positive, but only 6 men linked to care, with a significant difference between the study groups: 2 (10.5%) in the intervention arm and 4 (100%) in the control arm linked to care (Fisher's exact test, p < 0.01).

Based on the man's report, however, we did not observe a significant difference between groups. As Table 14 shows, 29 men (24 in the intervention arm and 5 in the control arm) tested positive over the entire three-month follow-up period. Of the 29 who tested positive, 10 (41.7%) men in the intervention arm and 3 (60%) men in the control arm linked to care.

Variable	Yes	No	Total	p-value
Month 1 male partner's report	rt			P 1000
Intervention day n (%)	6 (30 0)	14 (70 0)	20	0.31
Control day, n (%)	3 (60)	2 (40)	5	0.01
	0 (36 0)	2 (40)	25	
Manth 2 mala narthar's range	9 (30.0)	10 (04.0)	25	
Month 3 male partner's repo	rt - ()		_	
Intervention day, n (%)	6 (85.7)	1 (12.5)	7	1.00
Control day, n (%)	1 (100)	0 (0)	1	
Total	7 (87.5)	1 (12.5)	8	
Combined month 1 and mon	th 3 male partner's	report		
Intervention day, n (%)	10 (41.7)	14 (58.3)	24	0.63
Control day, n (%)	3 (60)	2 (40)	5	
Total	13 (44.8)	16 (55.2)	29	

Table 14: Linkage to care for male partners as reported by man, stratified by intervention arm and follow-up period

Note: Chi-square values are based on available data and exclude missing. Fisher's exact test was used as needed when one or more cells were less than 5.

When we combined men's and women's reports (Table 15), we found that 53 men (42 in the intervention arm and 11 in the control arm) tested positive over the entire threemonth follow-up period. Of the 53 who tested positive by any means and answered the linkage to care question, 10 (23.8%) men in the intervention arm and 5 (45.5%) men in the control arm linked to care.

## Table 15: Linkage to care for male partners as reported by either woman or man, combining month 1 and 3, stratified by intervention arm

0	Registered for oure	Did not register for care	lotal	p-value
9 (21.4)	10 (23.8)	23 (54.8)	42	0.09
4 (36.4)	5 (45.5)	2 (18.2)	11	
13 (24.5)	15 (28.3)	25 (47.2)	53	
	9 (21.4) 4 (36.4) 13 (24.5)	9 (21.4) 10 (23.8) 4 (36.4) 5 (45.5) 13 (24.5) 15 (28.3)	9 (21.4)       10 (23.8)       23 (54.8)         4 (36.4)       5 (45.5)       2 (18.2)         13 (24.5)       15 (28.3)       25 (47.2)	9 (21.4)       10 (23.8)       23 (54.8)       42         4 (36.4)       5 (45.5)       2 (18.2)       11         13 (24.5)       15 (28.3)       25 (47.2)       53

Note: Chi-square values are based on available data and exclude missing. Fisher's exact test was used as needed when one or more cells were less than 5.

### 4.1.5 Long-term follow-up (phase 3): confirmatory testing and linkage to care

As described above, in phase 3 of the study, we sought to re-contact couples in which the male partner had tested positive for HIV through self-testing, to enable longer-term follow-up of linkage to care outcomes. Participants were contacted after a range of 5 to 26 months after baseline (mean  $13.8 \pm 8.0$  months).

In phases 1 and 2, we identified a total of 26 men testing positive; however, 2 of these men did not use the self-testing kits and 1 died during follow-up. Of the remaining 23 men, we interviewed 18 in phase 3 for the long-term follow-up interview (78% retention).

As Tables 10 and 12 show, based on the man's report and the woman's report across months 1 and 3, there were 42 men in the intervention arm who tested positive, of whom 26 used the self-testing kit and answered the question about confirmatory testing. In months 1 and 3, based on the combined responses from the man and the woman, we ascertained that 11 of these 26 men went for confirmatory HIV testing at the clinic (Table 12).

Similarly, of the 42 men testing positive in the intervention arm, we ascertained that 10 men registered in HIV care (Table 15), with 23 failing to register in care and 9 missing. Therefore, in the extended follow-up, we were particularly interested in the men who, by the month 3 interview, had not yet reported confirmatory testing or linkage to care.

In Table 16, we summarize confirmatory testing results from phase 3 of the study, based on the 26 men who had tested positive via HIVST. Overall, we found a notable increase in men going for confirmatory testing during the extended follow-up period, bringing the proportion from 11 of 26 to 16 of 26.

	Missing	Went for confirmatory test	Did not go for confirmatory test	Total
Long-term visit				
Woman's report	21 (80.8%)	4 (15.4%)	1 (3.8%)	26
Partner's report	19 (73.1%)	7 (26.9%)	0 (0%)	26
Combined	19 (73.1%)	7 (26.9%)	0 (0%)	26
Cumulative				
Woman's report	0 (0%)	12 (46.2%)	14 (53.8%)	26
Partner's report	5 (19.2%)	13 (50.0%)	8 (30.8%)	26
Combined	0 (0%)	16 (61.5%)	10 (38.5%)	26

Table 16: Confirmatory testing at long-term follow-up (at long-term visit and
cumulative) for male partners testing positive by HIVST

Among the 15 men who tested positive with HIVST but did not go for confirmatory testing during the first three months, we found that 3 men had gone for confirmatory testing based on the woman's report. However, based on the man's report, and looking across both the woman's report and the man's report, we found that 5 of the 15 men had gone for confirmatory testing between the month 3 visit and the long-term visit.

Looking across all three study visits, therefore, we found that 16 of the 26 men eventually went for confirmatory testing. Finally, among all 42 men who tested positive in the intervention arm, we found that 21 eventually went for confirmatory testing, with 15 failing and 6 missing.

Regarding linkage to care, in Table 17 we summarize results from the long-term visit and updated cumulative results for linkage to care among men testing positive via HIVST.

## Table 17: Linkage to HIV care at long-term follow-up (at long-term visit and cumulative) for male partners testing positive by HIVST

	Missing	Linked to HIV care	Did not link to HIV care	Total
Long-term visit				
Woman's report	22 (84.6%)	3 (11.5%)	1 (3.8%)	26
Partner's report	20 (76.9%)	5 (19.2%)	1 (3.8%)	26
Combined	20 (76.9%)	5 (19.2%)	1 (3.8%)	26
Cumulative				
Woman's report	10 (38.5%)	3 (11.5%)	13 (50.0%)	26
Partner's report	12 (46.2%)	7 (26.9%)	7 (26.9%)	26
Combined	4 (15.4%)	7 (26.9%)	15 (57.7%)	26

Overall, among all men testing positive in the intervention arm, whether or not they used HIVST, when including the longer-term follow-up we found an increase from 10 of 42 (Table 15) to 14 of 42 (with 21 failing to link to care and 7 missing), demonstrating a meaningful proportion of men who did link to care after the month 3 visit.

In comparison, among 11 men testing positive in the control arm, 5 men linked to care during the first three months of follow-up, with only 2 failing and 4 missing. Therefore, linkage to care among men testing positive via HIVST continued to lag behind linkage among men who tested positive at the clinic in the control arm.

## *4.1.6 Secondary outcomes: passing the kit to the male partner and testing as a couple among HIV-positive and -negative women attending antenatal care*

Overall, 651 of 662 (98.3%) women took the HIV oral self-testing kit home; 597 of 647 (92.1%) women passed the kits on to their partners and the majority of the women who passed the kits to their partners passed them on the same day (239 of 497, 40.0%) or within the first week (254 of 597, 42.6%).

As Table 18 shows, based on the combined woman's report and man's report, approximately three quarters (562 of 767, or 73.3%) in the intervention arm reported to have tested as a couple. The difference in couples testing was statistically different at all follow-up points but highest within the month 1 women's report, with 419 of 573 (73.1%) versus 45 of 241 (18.7%).

Variable	Yes	No	Total	p-value
Month 1 woman's report				
Did you test together as a cou	ple?			
Intervention arm, n (%)	419 (73.1)	154 (26.9)	573	< 0.0001
Control arm, n (%)	45 (18.7)	196 (81.3)	241	
Total	464 (57.0)	350 (43.0)	814	
Missing			804 (49.7)	
Month 3 woman's report				
Did you test together as a cou	ple?			
Intervention arm, n (%)	100 (33.3)	200 (66.7)	300	0.003
Control arm, n (%)	54 (22.0)	192 (78.1)	246	
Total	154 (28.2)	392 (71.8)	546	
Missing			1,072 (66.3)	
Combined month 1 and month	n 3 woman's an	d man's report		
Did you test together as a cou	ple?			
Intervention arm, n (%)	562 (73.3)	205 (26.7)	767	< 0.0001
Control arm, n (%)	186 (30.8)	418 (69.2)	604	
Total	748 (54.6)	623 (45.4)	1,371	
Missing			247 (15.3)	

# Table 18: HIV self-testing as a couple among pregnant woman attending antenatal care and their male partners

**4.1.7 Disclosure rates and outcomes of partner HIVST across the two arms (positive including partner support for women and negative events, including social harms)** A third of the women (533 of 1,562, or 34.1%) reported having disclosed their HIV status at baseline. Their disclosure rates at the subsequent follow-up points were higher than their male partners' (Table 19).

A comparison of disclosure rates by arm reveals meaningful differences, but must take into account the fact that many more couples in the intervention arm tested together. Therefore, tables 19 and 20 refer only to those couples who did not test together.

Baseline woman's report	Yes	Νο	Only tested today	Total	p-value
Intervention, n (%)	270 (32.8)	238 (28.9)	315 (38.3)	823	0.38
Control, n (%)	263 (35.6)	216 (29.2)	260 (35.2)	739	
Total	533 (34.1)	454 (29.1)	575 (36.8)	1,562	

### Table 19: Disclosure rates from woman to man in baseline report

As Table 20 shows, disclosure rates were generally comparable across arms, although more men in the control arm reported having disclosed to their partners than their counterparts in the intervention arm. During month 1, 214 of 309 (69.3%) men in the control arm and 105 of 164 (64.0%) in the intervention arm disclosed their test results to their partners, although the difference was not statistically significant.

Disclosure by men increased by more than 10 percent (to 38 of 46, or 82.6%) in the control arm and by 8 percent (to 27 of 39, or 69.2%) in the intervention arm at month 3.

Month 1 man's report								
	lf you didn't results to he	test with your pa r?	artner, did you	disclose your				
	Yes	No	Total	p-value				
Intervention day, n (%)	105 (64.0)	59 (36.0)	164	0.25				
Control day, n (%)	214 (69.3)	95 (30.7)	309					
Total	319 (67.4)	154 (32.6)	473					
Missing			1,145					
Month 3 man's report								
	If you didn't test with your partner, did you disclose your results to her?							
	Yes	No	Total	p-value				
Intervention day, n (%)	27 (69.2)	12 (30.8)	39	0.15				
Control day, n (%)	38 (82.6)	8 (17.4)	46					
Total	65 (76.5)	20 (23.5)	85					
Missing			1,533					

Table 20: Disclosure	rates in man's reno	ort stratified by arm	and follow-up period
	rates in man s repe	ng odadnoa sy ann	i una ionom up ponou

As Table 21 shows, more women in the intervention arm (66 of 277, or 23.8%) than in the control arm (75 of 563, or 13.3%) reported that their partners disclosed their test results at month 1. At month 3, slightly more women in the intervention arm (94 of 487, or 19.3%) reported partners' disclosure, compared with those in the control arm (64 of 454, or 14.1%). Although the difference in disclosure rates among women was statistically significant at month 1, the difference was comparable at month 3 and across all follow-up points among men.

Table 21: Disclosure rates in woman's report, stratified by arm and follow-up period

Month 1 Woman's report										
If you didn't test as a couple, did your partner disclose to you his test results?										
	Yes	No	Don't know	Total	p-value					
Intervention day, n (%)	66 (23.8)	120 (43.3)	91 (32.8)	277	< 0.01					
Control day, n (%)	75 (13.3)	275 (48.8)	214 (37.9)	564						
Total	141 (16.8)	395 (47.0)	305 (36.3)	841						
Missing				777						
Month 3 woman's repo	ort									
If you didn't test as a c	ouple, did yo	our partner dis	close to you his	test results	s?					
	Yes	No	Don't know	Total	p-value					
Intervention day, n (%)	94 (19.3)	222 (45.6)	171 (35.9)	487	0.09					
Control day, n (%)	64 (14.1)	227 (50)	163 (35.9)	454						
Total	158 (16.8)	449 (47.7)	334 (35.5)	941						
Missing				677						

### 4.1.8 Positive and negative social outcomes

In the questionnaires, we asked women and their partners about positive and negative social outcomes at baseline and throughout the follow-up period. Negative social outcomes were of interest to address the concern that stress associated with HIV testing, and conflict related to the woman's bringing a kit home, might result in social harms. On the other hand, positive social outcomes were of interest to investigate whether successful HIV testing, and possibly increased self-efficacy associated with HIVST, might improve the relationship or have other beneficial social outcomes.

We assessed the women's questionnaire regarding how the men responded to the idea of HIV testing, and found minimal negative outcomes. Overall, of those who answered the question at the month 1 interview, the largest percentage of women reported the men to be happy (45.0%), with 20.5% "not sure" and 7.9%, 4.6%, 4.3%, 0.5%, and 17.2% of the women describing the men as "did not want to talk," "angry," "fearful," "violent" and "other," respectively.

The majority of the men (66.4% overall, similar between study arms) did not change in the way they supported their pregnant partners. The most common support given to the women was money to attend ANC clinic; this was reported by 452 of 847 (52.3%) of the women in the intervention arm and 413 of 771 (47.8%) in the control arm (Table 22).

Many of the study participants (22 of 45 women, or 48.9%; and 17 of 41 men, or 41.5%) had considered ending the relationship after they learned of the discordant status. However, few actually left the relationship.

Overall, women were significantly more likely than men to share their discordant status with others, with somewhat higher rates of disclosure (not statistically significant) to parents and friends. However, men were somewhat more likely than women to share the discordant status with other relatives (not statistically significant).

Row % for month 1 & 3	Month 1		Month 3								
separately	Intervention (n = 847)	InterventionControl(n = 847)(n = 771)		Control (n = 771)							
How has your partner supported you towards attending antenatal care, after your last interview? (Row percentages; women could choose more than one)											
Money to attend ANC, n (%)	452 (52.3)	413 (47.8)	305 (52.8)	273 (47.2)							
Escorts me to attend ANC, n (%)	47 (56.6)	36 (43.4)	46 (56.1)	36 (43.9)							
ANC reminders, n (%)	213 (49.9)	214 (50.1)	126 (52.7)	113 (47.3)							
Does not support me to attend ANC, n (%)	31 (50.0)	31 (50.0)	28 (50.9)	27 (49.1)							
In your assessment, how has the percentages)	e support from	your husband	d changed, if at	all? (Column							
Not changed, n (%)	475 (68.6)	412 (64.0)	346 (59.2)	281 (54.8)							
Improved, n (%)	167 (24.1)	174 (27.0)	180 (30.8)	188 (36.7)							
Reduced, n (%)	47 (6.8)	54 (8.4)	59 (10.1)	44 (8.6)							
Not sure, n (%)	3 (0.4)	4 (0.6)	n/a	n/a							

#### Table 22: Partner support based on woman's report

As Table 23 shows, at month 1, according to the woman's report, a higher proportion reported their partners' humiliating them or threatening to harm them (34 of 690 versus 10 of 643, p = 0.0006). However, only a few of these women reported this to be related to the HIV testing (8 of 32 versus 1 of 10, p = 0.42), providing no clear support for the concern that HIVST might lead to gender-based violence.

Furthermore, only two couples in the intervention arm were reported to have separated during the study period, with no other intimate partner violence registered.

#### Table 23: Social harms based on woman's report

Row % for month 1 and 3 separately	Month 1 Intervention (n = 847)	Control (n = 771)	Month 3 Intervention (n = 847)	Control (n = 771)
Partner humiliated or threatened to	34 (4.9%)	10 (1.6%)	13 (2.2%)	12 (2.3%)
harm you				
Related to HIV testing?	8 (0.9%)	1 (0.2%)	2 (0.4%)	2 (0.4%)
Physical harm	16 (2.3%)	7 (1.1%)	11 (1.9%)	4 (0.8%)
Related to HIV testing?	4 (0.5%)	1 (0.2%)	1 (0.2%)	0 (0.0%)
Worried partner may harm you	13 (1.9%)	11 (1.7%)	15 (2.6%)	4 (0.8%)

### 4.1.9 Coping strategies among discordant couples

In phase 3 (long-term follow-up), we enrolled discordant couples to assess coping strategies, in addition to confirmatory testing and linkage to care, as summarized above. In Table 24, we summarize reported impacts on the relationship and coping strategies discordant couples employed.

	Woman	Male partner	p-value
Thought of quitting relationship?	22/45 (48.9%)	17/41 (41.5%)	0.49
Quit the relationship?	4/22 (21.7%)	2/16 (12.5%)	0.64
Share discordant status with anyone?	28/48 (58.3%)	11/40 (27.5%)	0.004
Parents	11/28 (39.3%)	3/11 (27.3%)	0.71
Friends	9/28 (32.1%)	2/11 (18.2%)	0.46
Religious leaders	0/28 (0%)	0/11 (0%)	1.0
Other relative	9/28 (32.1%)	6/11 (54.6%)	0.28
Children	0/28 (0%)	0/11 (0%)	1.0
How they were supported			
Encourage to stay in relationship	22/28 (78.6%)	10/11 (90.9%)	0.65
Link to discordant couples' club	0/28 (0%)	0/11 (0%)	1.0
Link to HIV counselor	1/28 (3.6%)	0/11 (0%)	1.0
Encourage to leave relationship	3/28 (10.7%)	1/11 (9.1%)	1.0
Did not support me	1/28 (3.6%)	0/11 (0%)	1.0
Coping strategies (Likert scale [1 = agree,			
5 = disagree]: Mean, SD)			
Solve our problems by discussing	1.9 (1.2)	1.8 (1.2)	0.71
Concerned about preventing HIV	1.9 (1.0)	1.8 (0.96)	0.87
transmission			
Big challenge is uncertainty of HIV	3.1 (1.7)	3.2 (1.4)	0.73
Discordance brought us closer	3.3 (1.6)	3.2 (1.5)	0.84
Discordance causes emotional	3.1 (1.7)	3.7 (1.4)	0.09
distance			
We always use condoms	3.3 (1.7)	2.7 (1.6)	0.09
I stay because of our children	3.1 (1.9)	3.5 (1.7)	0.36

Table 24: Discordant couples – relationship outcomes and strategies for coping

We observed no differences between women and men regarding the reaction of those with whom they shared news of their discordant relationship. Most women and men reported that the individual encouraged them to stay in the relationship. Few were linked to discordant couples' clubs or HIV counselors.

Regarding coping strategies, women and men reported their agreement with different statements using a Likert scale, in which 1 indicated strong agreement and 5 indicated strong disagreement (Table 24). Overall, we found that both men and women tended to agree that they had solved their problems through discussion, that they were concerned about preventing HIV transmission and that the uncertainty of having HIV presented a major concern in their lives.

We found no strong agreement or disagreement with the idea that HIV brought them emotionally closer or that HIV induced emotional distance between the woman and her male partner. However, men were somewhat less likely to agree that having HIV created an emotional distance between the partners (p = 0.09).

Men were somewhat more likely than women to report that they always used condoms during sexual intercourse (p = 0.09). Finally, we found no strong agreement or disagreement with the idea that the respondent should have left the discordant relationship, but did not do so for the sake of their children.

### 4.1.10 Polymerase chain reaction results

We identified 186 participants in the intervention arm who reported testing negative with the oral self-testing kit, but whose kits appeared to show a weak positive band when they returned for a follow-up visit. We invited these 186 individuals to participate in a PCR testing study to confirm their results and to better understand the performance of different HIV testing modalities.

One hundred fifty of 186 (80.7%) people participated in this sub-study and more than half were women (96 of 150, or 64%). As described in section 3 (methods), these individuals underwent repeat supervised oral testing, standard rapid blood-based testing and blood was taken for PCR testing. Nearly all of these individuals were confirmed negative on retesting, with 140 concordant negative on observed oral self-testing, rapid blood-based and PCR tests.

Five other participants were found to be HIV-positive, with concordant results from all three methods. Lastly, five participants had discordant results: two oral self-testing results were in agreement with PCR and two with the rapid blood test. As part of this sub-study, participants were asked to interpret their oral self-testing result, under observation. About 139 oral testing results were interpreted correctly by the participants, six were wrongly interpreted and five were missing participants' interpretation.

Of the six wrongly interpreted results, four were wrongly interpreted as positive and two as negative; all four results that were wrongly interpreted as positive tested negative in PCR. Of the two wrongly interpreted as negative, one interpreted as indeterminate by the interviewer tested negative and the second interpreted as negative by both the interviewer and participant tested positive on PCR. Four of the six (66.7%) wrongly interpreted results were for women.

### 4.2 Qualitative results

Eighty-five individuals were interviewed. Of these, 70 were in-depth interview participants and 15 were key informants (Table 25). Of the 70 in-depth interview participants, 11 were family members of women whose male partners self-tested for HIV, 15 were male partners who used the kit, 15 were male partners who refused to use the kit and 12 were women whose male partners refused to use the kit to test for HIV.

Of the 15 key informants, 9 were nurse counselors, 2 were expert clients and 4 were other types of participants. All interviews were conducted at the end of the last quantitative follow-up visit; in other words, at the end of the follow-up period.

Study site	Entebl	oe		Mpigi	i		Nakas	eke		Total
	IDI	KII	Total	IDI	KII	Total	IDI	KII	Total	
Participant category										
In-depth interviews										
Family member	5		5	4		4	2		2	11
Men who refused HIVST	5		5	6		6	4		4	15
Men who self-tested	6		6	5		5	4		4	15
Women whose partners	5		5	5		5	2		2	12
Women whose partners	5		5	5		5	7		7	17
self-tested	5		0	5		5	,		'	17
Subtotal	26		26	25		26	19		19	70
Key informant interviews										
Nurse counselor	0	2	2	0	3	3		4	4	9
Expert client	0	0	0	0	2	2		0	0	2
Other (not specified)	0	3	3	0	0	0		1	1	4
Total	0				5	5		5	5	6
Overall total	26	5	5	25	5	30	19	5	24	85

 Table 25: Number of participants interviewed for the qualitative study by study site

 and category of participant

Note: IDI = in-depth interview and KII = key informant interview.

Study findings were grouped into six a priori and emerging themes: (a) motivation for HIVST; (b) anticipated fears/initial barriers to HIVST; (c) strategies women used in delivering HIVST kits to their male partners; (d) experiences in using HIVST kits; (e) social consequences associated with HIVST; and (f) positive outcomes/benefits of HIVST.

These findings support our initial assumptions, as envisaged in the theory of change, and partly explain the high HIVST rates reported by women in the quantitative section of this report.

### 4.2.1 HIV self-testing facilitates male partner and couples' HIV testing

Evidence from prior research suggests that men are less likely than women to test for HIV (largely because they do not have time to go to health facilities to test (Camlin et al. 2016b). We explored participants' perceptions as to whether the presence of the HIVST kits in the home could have motivated men to test for HIV.

In response, women indicated that the HIVST kit not only helped encourage men to test for HIV, but also helped the women learn about their male partners' HIV infection status (some men learned they were HIV-positive after using the kit), which they might not have known had the kit not been brought home.

[I]f I had not taken it, even my husband would not have come to the facility to be tested, but I took it and told him that once it comes two lines, it means you have HIV and if it come with one line, it means you don't have HIV; and when we came here and the lab tested him, and they called him and he came, they drew blood from us and on that very day he started on medication, which he didn't know. And if I had not taken that kit, he didn't have the idea in his mind to come to hospital to test for HIV, but the oral kit influenced him to come to the hospital so that he

knows the truth with his status, and after that day, he started getting treatment. — *HIV-negative woman in an HIV-discordant relationship whose male partner self-tested for HIV, age 34, Nakaseke Hospital* 

Women also indicated that the presence of the kits in the home motivated them to test together with their male partners. This was likely the case because women and their partners were able to use the test kits at home, something that would be difficult if men were asked to go to the health facilities to test for HIV with their female partners.

### **4.2.2** Anticipated fears or barriers that women faced before delivering HIVST kits Female participants narrated how they were initially scared of how best to introduce the HIVST kits to their male partners. Most thought their male partners would "ask me what I had brought home" and that they were likely to refuse to use the kits.

There were initial doubts about the ability of the HIVST kit to detect HIV antibodies given that participants were used to a blood-based test, rather than a test kit that uses mucosal fluids.

The first time I heard about HIV self-testing, the issue that came into my mind was that the kits will not work. This is because personally, I was used to the old method of pricking with a needle. So, I wondered and thought [about] how this method will test for HIV, yet there is no blood involved. — *HIV-positive female partner in an HIV-discordant relationship whose male partner self-tested for HIV, age 33, Mpigi HC4* 

When asked if the HIVST kit performed as expected, participants indicated that when they self-tested using the HIVST kit, their HIV results were similar to those they got when they were tested at the ANC clinic using a blood-based rapid HIV test; that is, the test yielded HIV-positive results that they already knew, having tested previously through ANC.

# 4.2.3 Strategies women used to introduce HIV self-testing kits to their male partners or to make them use the kits at home

Women used several strategies to introduce HIVST kits to their male partners. Some women, particularly those whose relationships with their husbands/male partners were good, introduced the kit on the same day and told their partners the kits were meant for HIVST. In the majority of cases, however, women thought of innovative strategies that would enable them to deliver the kits to their male partners without causing trouble for themselves.

Most of the strategies used were positive: enlisting the support of a health worker in convincing the male partner to use the kit; asking that the HIVST kits be sent to the male partners by the health workers; and waiting for "opportune moments."

Other strategies used to convince their partners to use the tests or ensure their partners tested were less honest. Only a few women reported using these strategies, but they are important to mention: concealing some information about the HIVST kit from the male partner (for example, telling the male partner the kit was for HIVST but not telling them how the results should be interpreted); lying about the purpose of the kit (for example, telling the male partner to test all "blood-related" diseases in

the body); and controlling the HIVST process (for example, one woman swabbed the male partner and conducted the self-testing exercise herself instead of teaching her partner how to do it on his own):

I told him that he would do it wrongly, so I asked him to allow me [to] do it for him. He asked me to teach him how he should do it and I told him that he would not afford to do it and he was convinced. So he allowed me to do it [perform HIVST] for him. — *HIV-negative female partner who self-tested with her HIV-negative male partner, age 20 years, Entebbe Hospital* 

### 4.2.4 Experiences with using HIV self-testing kits

Participants indicated that HIVST was easy to perform because of its convenience; that is, it could be done at home or in any other private place, and in a much simpler way than conventional HIV testing processes.

I think it's a simple process, because when you go for testing at a health facility, you must wait till when you're called for your HIV test results, but in self-testing, it's you who controls the entire process. For the conventional HIV testing, it's the health provider who sees your test results first before you do. Secondly, before they give you your results, again they first take you through counseling, which can make you think that you're HIV-positive. For HIV self-testing, you get to know your test results without going through counseling again – that stress! — *Female partner who self-tested with male partner, age 20 years, Entebbe Hospital* 

One man said he was not sure that just a simple test kit – the one he received from his wife – could really detect HIV antibodies. He said he still carried these thoughts even after performing the test.

I was asking myself, saying, "Is this really true?" Can really a person just get that spoon and pass it in the gum and then ... [spreading his hands] tests for HIV? Still that was running in my mind – wondering ... and up to now, am still not convinced, because she told me that, you know, the saliva settles there and the person who is positive, there is this and that – she is not a nurse, she is ... [laughs] so you have to know am still asking myself, really. — *Male partner who self-tested for HIV, 38 years, Entebbe Hospital* 

This male participant indicated that he knew HIV antibodies could only be detected through blood, rather than through oral mucosal fluids. He reasoned that oral mucosal fluids, which he constantly referred to as saliva, were "too acidic" for HIV to survive. As such, there was no way "saliva" could have antibodies for HIV, even if someone were HIV-positive. Even after performing the test and testing negative, this participant indicated that he still had doubts as to whether the oral HIVST kit could detect HIV antibodies in mucosal fluids.

#### 4.2.5 Women's experiences after using the kits

We asked women what happened when they delivered and/or eventually used the HIVST kits with their male partners. All women whose male partners self-tested for HIV reported that they did not experience any dire social consequences arising from testing with them. Instead, they reported more positive experiences.

In an in-depth interview with an HIV-positive woman in an HIV-discordant relationship, we asked her what had happened to their relationship after the husband knew his HIV-negative status and the woman's HIV-positive status. She responded that although she feared what the husband might do after learning that she was HIV-positive, he did not "show any anger":

We had tested together some time back. But for me I had taken a period of three months since I had last tested. But we had tested together sometime back through the mobile testing services that had come to our village and we were both negative. I was surprised when I tested this time and the results had changed. So, maybe the virus was just not detected that time. My greatest fear was that it was going to be trouble the moment he learns about it. But he did not show me any anger. Nothing happened. — *HIV-positive woman in an HIV-discordant relationship whose male partner self-tested for HIV, age 25, Mpigi HC4* 

This woman indicated that instead of the relationship's developing cracks, her husband started to support her the moment he learned of her HIV-positive status. He supported her with money for transport to the clinic and reminded her of when to take her drugs to improve adherence.

Since that time, he asks me when I am going for treatment and he gives me transport. He is very interested in knowing my return date whenever I come from the facility to enable him [to] plan for the transport ... He always reminds me to take my medication on time. — *HIV-positive woman in an HIV-discordant relationship whose male partner self-tested for HIV, age 25, Mpigi HC4* 

In another interview, an HIV-negative woman whose male partner tested HIV-positive was asked what she thought following the knowledge of her partner's HIV-positive status. She indicated that although knowledge of her male partner's results caused her stress at the beginning, she was eventually able to cope with the situation and they still live with him.

### 4.2.6 Positive outcomes/benefits of HIV self-testing

Participants who tested together for HIV indicated that the use of HIVST kits helped improve the quality of their relationships.

It built the confidence between the two of us because – I do not know whether she misunderstood or that that is exactly what you told her, but she told me that "we have to do it when we are two." I do not know because I was not there in the first place, when she was bringing the kits ... but it builds the confidence. — *Male partner who self-tested for HIV, 38 years, Entebbe Hospital* 

I didn't trust him. Even when we were going to have sex I would be scared, thinking that I would contract HIV from him at that time. But after HIV self-testing, I gained confidence in him and stopped worrying. — *HIV-negative female partner* who self-tested with her HIV-negative male partner, age 20 years, Entebbe Hospital

A nurse counselor at Mpigi shared similar benefits of HIVST. When asked what observations she had seen at the health facility since HIVST had been initiated, she reported that there had been an increase in the number of men escorting their wives to the health facility, in addition to an increase in the number of men testing for HIV.

What I can say is that HIV self-testing has increased the number of men testing for HIV, which was not the case before. According to my observation, the study has also improved on the number of men who escort their wives for antenatal care, unlike before. The number has gone up. — *Nurse counselor, Mpigi HC4* 

### 4.2.7 Coping mechanisms of HIV-discordant couples

We followed up with 18 individuals in HIV discordant relationships (nine couples) and interviewed them about how they had coped with their HIV serodiscordant status since they had last self-tested for HIV. Six of the couples had an HIV-infected female partner and three had an HIV-infected male partner.

It is important to note that 11 of these 18 individuals had previously tested for HIV and were already aware that they were living in an HIV-discordant relationship, so they had most likely overcome the initial emotions and fears associated with serodiscordance.

Only seven individuals indicated that they had learned their HIV-discordant status after they self-tested for HIV. Even then, we did not find any major differences in the way the two sets of couples coped with HIV discordance, probably because most, if not all, of them had already passed the most critical/difficult stage in appreciating their HIV-discordant status, and because of the long period since they had last self-tested for HIV. The follow-up visit to assess coping mechanisms among HIV-discordant couples happened 6–18 months after the couples had last self-tested for HIV.

Nevertheless, study findings provide insights into what goes through the minds of individuals the moment they learn that they are in an HIV-discordant relationship and how they eventually cope with the situation. The findings present scenarios that can happen in any relationship, regardless of the method of HIV testing used.

We grouped study findings into four main areas:

- initial reactions when members of the couple learned for the first time that they were HIV discordant;
- how individuals coped with their HIV-discordant status and managed to live together until time of interview;
- current thoughts and fears about HIV discordance; and
- advice to couples in other HIV-discordant situations.

*Initial reactions about HIV serodiscordance*. Our findings suggested that three things happened the moment individuals learned of their serodiscordant status for the first time: (a) HIV-positive women feared they would be chased from their homes, while HIV-negative women thought of separating from their HIV-infected partners; (b) some participants developed suicidal ideations, although these cleared after they were counseled; and (c) some participants reported changes in the way they related sexually.

The majority of HIV-positive women with HIV-negative male partners were scared that their male partners would throw them out of the home, although many attested to the fact that this did not happen.

What came to my mind, at heart I was so scared and worried and had this feeling that since he had found out that I am HIV-positive while he is HIV-negative, he might overreact and, in the end, we [would] separate, but all in all, I was also relieved after knowing the truth about his status and became strong and ready to go by whichever decision he would make. To my surprise, he did not react like I had expected, because he chose to stay with me and support me in my situation. — *HIV-positive female partner, age 35, Mpigi HC4* 

Likewise, HIV-negative women with HIV-positive partners initially thought of separating from their HIV-positive male partners, but decided to stay in the relationship after being counseled by health workers. A female participant from Entebbe Hospital narrated how she had had repeated impulses to separate from her HIV-positive husband, but "cooled down" after she was counseled by health workers, deciding to stay in the relationship.

What came to my mind ... I thought of walking away and abandoning him, I thought of separating from him, I even didn't want to have a glance at him at that time, but I cooled down. Such thoughts would come and I felt so stressed; I was pregnant [at the time] and felt stressed. But I decided to calm down by myself; the health workers had tried to counsel me that this was possible – I could stay like that and look after my children. Generally, I got a very big challenge and if it was not [for] the fact that I was strong, I would not have tolerated it at all, or would have packed my bags and separated from him. — *HIV-negative female partner, age 25, Entebbe Hospital* 

Two HIV-positive men indicated that they initially thought of committing suicide due to being HIV infected while their partners were HIV-negative, and due to the fact that their HIV-negative partners were threatening to leave them.

An HIV-positive man from Entebbe Hospital narrated how he felt life was no longer "worth living" since his partner, who could have counseled him, was threatening to leave him. However, when these individuals received counseling from their relatives and health workers, they let go of the idea of committing suicide.

I had decided to commit suicide. I got that thought so often because of three reasons: first was because I had found myself infected with HIV; second was I was no longer working; and thirdly, my wife who would have counseled me was continuously threatening to abandon me. Whenever I thought of all these, I felt like I was not worth living but I dropped the decision because of the thorough counseling I received from my aunt and my parents, and also the fact that my wife eventually decided to stay with me in our relationship and we look after our children. — *HIV-positive male partner, age 30, Entebbe Hospital* 

The majority of HIV-negative participants with HIV-infected partners narrated how learning about their HIV serodiscordant status created an emotional distance between them. The idea of resorting to regular condom use with their marital partners was so

difficult and painful that some participants took a long time to engage in sex with their HIV-positive partners.

In a few couples, HIV-negative men refused to use condoms and continued to have "live" (unprotected) sex, which put them at risk of HIV infection. A 34-year-old, HIV-negative male participant from Entebbe Hospital narrated how they no longer had sex as regularly as they used to (before he learned his wife was HIV-positive), since the "love has reduced."

Hmm, life changed a bit. Our life was very good before I learnt that my partner was HIV-positive, but when I did, just like you know, the love reduced a bit and became measurable because before, we both thought that we were HIV-negative and we used to have live sex. We could have it like three or more times but now, it has reduced. We can have it like once in a week or not even having it at all because we rarely think about that. It is because the love has reduced. Nothing else changed. The way we treat and care for each other is still the same. I still love her. — *HIV-negative male partner, age 34, Entebbe Hospital* 

*How couples coped with their HIV-discordant status.* HIV-positive individuals in serodiscordant relationships were initially concerned that they would separate or thought of committing suicide, while others had to grapple with changes in the way their partners related to them sexually.

To cope with these thoughts and changes in their lives, participants highlighted the important role of counseling from professional health workers and psychosocial support from relatives and friends. The following quotations highlight the importance that counseling played in these people's lives and how it helped them cope with HIV discordance.

I received some counseling. What I really got out of this counseling was to ensure that my partner takes medicine. This was something important I got, because I leant that when she takes her medicine, the virus will become dormant. And, secondly, not to stress her and keep reminding her that you are HIV-positive because, just that you have come at a time when she is just recovering from an illness. She had an illness, which affected her, but before that she was very healthy that no one could even suspect that she is HIV-positive. When she goes to pick [up] her medicine, one could think that she is taking the child for immunization, but she would be getting her medicine. So, what I got from this counseling is that I don't make my partner worried and stressed. This also helped us to stay together because of the fact that you are aware of her status and you know how to support her to stay healthy. *— HIV-negative male partner, age 47, Nakaseke Hospital* 

Yes, especially me ... It took me time to accept that I would stay with her in our relationship and I still remain HIV-negative. It took time. The health worker assured me that it was possible, so long as she adhered to her drugs as prescribed; it was possible that she could live long and I can also stay negative. The counseling partly helped because according to my understanding, I had made my own decisions about what would happen [getting HIV-infected] ... They

continued to strengthen me that it was possible to remain in this relationship when you are still HIV-negative. — *HIV-negative male partner, age 45, Mpigi HC4* 

As already noted, some individuals indicated that they were supported to cope with their HIV-discordant status by people in their social networks, including parents, aunts, siblings and, to some extent, close friends to whom they had disclosed their HIV status.

When asked whether disclosing to these people had helped them cope in any way, most participants indicated that they had received support from those to whom they had disclosed, including support to stay together with their partners and to start or continue to take HIV treatment if they were HIV infected.

I told my mother and elder brother, who is a pastor. I opened up to my mother, since she is an adult and can understand; she advised that I should continue taking drugs and look after my children. She strengthened me and that is why I am still living too. I further explained to them about my wife's [HIV-negative] status, too, and they were eager to know if she would be willing to [stay with] me, they had that thought [in their] mind, too. I told them that currently I had not sensed any changes, but since we all have different plans hidden in our heart, I may be here, proud that she may stay with me forever, when she has a different plan in the long run. — *HIV-positive male partner, age 48, Entebbe Hospital* 

When asked what their source of hope for a healthy future was, despite being in an HIVdiscordant relationship, HIV-negative participants indicated that the fact that their HIVpositive partners were already receiving HIV treatment was a great source of hope. Being on treatment would help them remain healthy and strong. Likewise, HIV-positive individuals reported that being on HIV treatment would help them live a longer life and "be able to take care of my children."

What gives me hope is being on treatment and to be of importance to my children. What gives me hope is that I am going to be healthy and alive, and I will be able to take care of my children when I promptly take my medicine. Also, the fact that my partner takes good care of me, but even if he doesn't take care of me, I have hope that when I am healthy, I can provide everything I want for myself. — *HIV-positive female partner, aged 34, Nakaseke Hospital* 

*Current thoughts and fears about HIV discordance.* Although the majority of couples indicated that they were coping well with HIV discordance, a few HIV-negative individuals indicated that they sometimes feared that their partners might one day infect them with HIV, especially if they refused to use a condom. This is a natural feeling of desperation that calls for individuals in HIV-discordant relationships to receive ongoing support counseling.

Maybe what can come on my mind is, sometimes I can sit down and think that since he is sick (i.e. HIV-positive), one day I will also wake up when he has infected me. If he wakes up one morning and [refuses] to use a condom and forces me into sex, won't I risk my life getting infected? Sometimes I get those worries, but I try so hard to remain strong. — *HIV-negative female partner, age 25–34, Entebbe Hospital* 

When asked what their hardest moment had been since they learned they were HIVpositive while their partners were HIV-negative, some HIV-positive individuals expressed fear and skepticism regarding what their partners thought about them

The hardest thing is, sometimes when we are discussing family issues and I get imaginations of what he may be thinking about me in regards to our different status, because he does not talk about it. Secondly, sometimes when I am going to get my drugs at the health facility and I do not have transport, I find it hard turning to him for assistance; sometimes I feel like I am a burden and he may complain and get fed up of such a situation. — *HIV-positive female partner, age 32, Mpigi HC4* 

Advice to other couples in HIV-discordant relationships. When asked what advice they would give to other HIV-discordant couples for coping with HIV infection, most participants suggested that such couples should endeavor to avoid getting into arguments with each other about who brought HIV into the home, and try to support each other to live harmoniously without pointing fingers.

Some suggested that the HIV-negative partner should support the HIV-positive partner to not only link to HIV care, but also to continue taking their HIV medication as prescribed. I would advise the one who is negative ... that you encourage your partner to always go back to the health facility on the return date given and to also make sure that the medicine given is taken as instructed. The other thing is a challenge of getting so worried about the fact that you are positive and your partner is negative, and you start thinking that he will even leave me, but leaving your partner after going through so much trouble together, I don't see that as right ... Lastly, the advice I would give to discordant couples is that the partner who is infected should also take trouble to take his medicine, instead of feeling low about themselves, saying that after all I am already infected. The more they continue being reluctant about care, the more their lives will be in danger. Actually, in most cases, people who drop off care get worse and some of them even lose their lives. — *HIV-negative male partner, age 45, Nakaseke Hospital* 

### 4.2.8 Linkage to HIV care among HIV-positive individuals

Interviews were conducted with seven HIV-positive men to explore:

- issues that had supported them to link to and remain in HIV care, among those who had linked to care and were still in care;
- issues that had led them to drop out of care, among those who had initiated care but dropped out; and
- issues that had inhibited them from linking to HIV care, among those who had not yet initiated HIV care.

We have grouped study findings into three main themes: issues that influence linkage to and retention in HIV care; issues that led HIV-positive men who enrolled into HIV care to drop out; and issues that inhibited HIV-positive men who have yet to link to HIV care.

*Issues that influenced linkage to and retention in HIV care.* Three HIV-positive men had initiated care after HIVST and were still in HIV care at the time of interview. We asked

these men what had helped them link to care in the first place when other men had failed to do so. Men cited the role of counseling they had received from health workers and encouragement from their relatives as key factors.

I realized that my life was deteriorating and yet my children needed me. Secondly, how my aunt and other health workers counseled me. When I thought about all this, I realized that my people still needed me, and I also had more reasons to continue living. During counseling, they showed me examples of some people who had lived for many years, yet they were in my situation. So, all this gave me hope to start on drugs. — *HIV-positive male partner, age 34, Entebbe Hospital* 

When asked what had made them continue with their HIV treatment when others sometimes dropped out, men cited two main reasons for keeping in HIV care – support from their wives or female sexual partners, and a love of life; in other words, the need to remain alive and strong.

What you should know is that our wives play a big role in our lives, communicate through women ... when these women are attending antenatal services, the men do not escort them and tend to be so busy. I personally would have opposed the idea if my wife was not among those who had counseled me to initiate drugs. — *HIV-positive male partner, age 30, Entebbe Hospital* 

And what has helped me to be on care for the last two years is because I love my life. Ever since I started treatment, there is a lot of improvement in my life. I used to constantly fall sick but that stopped when I started on care. I could be attacked by fever, strong cough and other illnesses constantly. Also, what has helped me stay on care is the fact that I know that I am not alone, but there are many other people who are on care like me, this makes me stronger. Also, my wife ... reminds me to take my medicine. — *HIV-positive male partner, age 29, Nakaseke Hospital* 

*Issues that led HIV-positive men who had enrolled into HIV care to drop out.* In interviews with one participant from Mpigi, who had initiated HIV care but dropped out, we found that inability to disclose his HIV status to his new partner was the main reason he had dropped out of care. This participant informed us that he feared that continuing to take his HIV medicines could reveal his hidden HIV-positive status to his new wife.

What made me drop off care is the fact that I had got a wife during that time and I did not know how I was going to handle being on care without her finding out. So, I decided to drop out of care. I was afraid she would discover the medicine. Secondly, the health workers that are working under the HIV care program ... come from the areas we live in. Sometimes we might not be [on] par with that person and because you have your misunderstandings, he starts to spread rumors about your life, because he is already aware that I am on care so he decides to tell people about it. That kind of condition also forced me to drop off care. *— HIV-positive male partner, age 25, Mpigi HC4* 

*Issues that have inhibited HIV-positive men to link to HIV care.* Three men who had not yet initiated HIV care were interviewed to document reasons for their failure to link to

care. When asked why they had never initiated care after self-testing for HIV, the men cited reasons such as not being ready to start lifelong HIV treatment (largely driven by misconceptions they had picked up from fellow men – see below) and the perception that they were still healthy and did not see the need to start HIV treatment at the time.

... the truth is that this [starting HIV treatment] is not something that one can just adopt like that. I have spent two years but I am yet to initiate HIV care. The main reason is the tablets! Taking those tablets is not easy. We are told that when you start on the treatment, you have started. There is no stopping. It is like eating food; the truth is you have started so, for that matter, you really have to get ready for it after doing some observation. When I start, I don't want to stop. This is the arrangement I have. I want to go and do a confirmatory test; then I start on the treatment. I am afraid of starting and then drop-out. — *HIV-positive male partner, age 31, Entebbe Hospital* 

I have not yet put my mind to it. I have not yet felt like it in my heart. Secondly, what is stopping me is because there is nothing I feel about my health that needs me to start treatment. To me, I am still healthy and do not see any reason as to why I should start treatment when I don't have any sickness I am feeling in my life that needs medication. I just feel that it is not yet time for me to start on medication; when time comes, I will start. — *HIV-positive male partner, age 30, Nakaseke Hospital* 

Other reasons men had not started on HIV treatment related to misconceptions from participants' social networks. For instance, a participant from Mpigi narrated how he had heard from his friends that taking HIV medication requires a lot of money to buy food and that individuals taking HIV medication become "fat and black," something he says discouraged him from starting treatment.

There was some guy I spoke to who is on care and he gave me that information. He told me that when he enrolled to care, he had to sell his piece of land because he used to eat a lot and yet he didn't have the money. So that is the problem. He told me that if you have to enroll into care, you need to first prepare some money for yourself, money that is not for solving other problems [but for buying food] ... He further said that being on treatment makes you weak and at the same time makes you eat too much. There is too much desire for food. The other thing is when people start on treatment, they become fat and yet I don't want to become fat ... Imagine a person becoming so fat with a very big belly and then he turns black like charcoal, e ... What is in this world? I have never admired becoming fat. That is what I am worried of ... — *HIV-positive male partner, age 44, Mpigi HC4* 

### 4.3 Cost-effectiveness analysis results

Table 26 shows the cost of the intervention by cost categories.

### Table 26: Distribution of costs by category

	Intervention		Control	
	Cost (US\$)	% of total	Cost (US\$)	% of total
Above-site personnel costs	1,926.80	12.3%	1,926.79	33%
Above-site operational costs	1,296.20	8.3%	1,296.20	22%
Facility personnel time costs	2,016.50	12.8%	1,599.80	27%
Training costs	73.40	0.5%	48.90	1%
Above-site assets	330.10	2.1%	330.10	6%
Facility asset costs	141.80	0.9%	141.80	2%
Facility operational costs	482.50	3.1%	482.50	8%
Facility supplies (self-testing kits)	9,450.0	60.2%	-	0%
Total	15,717.30	100	5,826.10	100

In the base-case analysis, the total cost for intervention was US\$15,717.27 and US\$5,826.10 for the control. In the intervention arm, the biggest cost driver was the HIVST kits (60.2% of the total cost), followed by above-site costs of the intervention (20.6%), which largely covered operational costs, training coordination and personnel time.

In the control arm, above-site costs were the biggest cost driver (55% of total cost), followed by facility personnel time costs (27% of total cost).

We computed facility personnel time from the time they spent on activities related to recruitment, follow-up with recruited participants and linkage to care of those who tested HIV-positive. Their time was spent on health education, counseling women, screening for eligibility of self-testing, training women on HIVST, follow-up with women, partners or family members, linkage of partners and family members into care, testing of partners and family members, distributing the self-testing kits, mobilization and organizing patient flow at the facility.

The cost per partner tested was US\$30.30 for the intervention and US\$31.20 for the control, while the cost per HIV-infected person identified was US\$462.30 for the intervention and US\$582.60 for the control. Comparing intervention with control, the ICER per additional partner tested was US\$29.80 and the ICER per additional partner testing HIV-positive was US\$412.10. In a one-way sensitivity analysis, reducing the unit cost of the self-testing test kits by half reduced the cost per partner tested, and the cost per HIV-positive partner identified, by 30 percent – to US\$21.20 and US\$323.30, respectively.

The ICERs of partner testing and identifying HIV-positive partners were reduced by 48 percent, to US\$15.60 per extra person tested and to US\$215.26 per extra HIV-positive person identified. The ICER for identifying HIV-positive partners and the cost per HIV-positive person identified were also sensitive to the proportion of partners who tested HIV-positive.

Doubling the proportion of HIV-positive partners reduced the ICER and cost per HIVpositive partner identified by another 50 percent (ICER = \$107.60 per incremental HIVpartner identified), as Table 27 shows. Table 27: Cost-effectiveness and incremental cost-effectiveness of self-testing on partners testing and identification of HIV-positive partners

			Partner tes	sting			Partners	testing HIV-po	ositive	
	Cost (US\$)	Cost	Partners	Cost per	Partner	ICER	Number	Cost per	Difference	ICER
		difference	tested	partner	testing		HIV-	new HIV-	number	
		(US\$)		tested	difference		positive	positive	HIV-positive	
							-	partner	-	
Control	5,826.1	0	187	31.2	-	-	10	582.61	-	-
Intervention	15,717.3	9,891.2	519	30.3		29.8	34	462.27	24	
					332					412.13
Sensitivity analys	is on cost of se	If-testing kits								
Control	5,826.1	0	187	31.2	0		10		-	-
								582.6		
Intervention	10,992.5	5,166.2	519	21.2	332	15.6	34		24	215.26
(cost of self-								323.3		
testing kits										
halved \$1)										
Sensitivity analys	is on joint effec	t of doubling pro	oportion of pa	rtners who tee	sted HIV-positi	ve and reduc	tion in cost of s	elf-testing kits		
Control	5,826.1	0	186	31.2	0	-	20	582.6	-	-
Intervention	10,992.5	5,166.2	503	21.2	332	15.6	68	161.7	48	
(cost kits = 50%										
& double HIV-								251.3		
positive										107.6
proportion)										

### 5. Discussion

### 5.1 Uptake of HIV testing services by male partners of pregnant women

In this study, a convincing and impressive increase in male partner testing was demonstrated, resulting from provision of HIV oral self-testing kits through the female partner enrolled in ANC. During the first month of follow-up, HIV testing uptake was almost four times higher in the self-testing arm. Considering the women's and men's reports across the entire follow-up period, 76.7 percent in the intervention arm tested, compared with 37.5 percent in the control group.

The large increase in testing uptake was seen in couples where the woman was HIVnegative and where the woman was HIV-positive. HIVST also led to a significant increase in couples testing, with 73 percent in the intervention arm testing as couples, compared with 31 percent in the control arm. Qualitative findings further highlighted improved male partner testing, with respondents asserting that the number had gone up and their relationships have improved.

These results show that HIV oral self-testing may have the potential to be an important tool for increasing HIV testing rates in male partners of pregnant women and couples testing in Uganda – and likely in other important populations around Uganda.

Among the men who received the HIVST kits, 94 percent used them to test for HIV (based on the woman's report). The resistance to testing among some men could be due to men's chauvinistic tendencies, since they received the test kits from their female partners; to fear of testing; or to the men's perception that their HIV status was implied in their female partner's status.

Similar results were found in Kenya, with 90.8 percent partner testing in the HIVST arm, compared with 51.7 percent (Masters et al. 2016), and a meta-analysis in which HIVST doubled the uptake of HIV testing among men, compared with standard HTS (Johnson et al. 2017). Such an increase in HIV testing uptake has important public health implications, if it can be achieved at population level and reach those with undiagnosed HIV infection. This increase is also critical for the success of PMTCT programs.

Contrary to this study's findings, HIVST use was low in Malawi in the first and second years (46.1% and 43.8%, respectively) in a community-based prospective study (Choko et al. 2015).

### 5.2 Linkage to care

Regarding linkage to care, we were concerned that individuals who had not previously tested for HIV, but agreed to use self-testing, might be more difficult to link to care if they tested positive for HIV. Although we had limited statistical power to evaluate linkage to care, the results of our study are consistent with the hypothesis that men who tested positive via self-testing might be less likely to link to care than men testing at a clinic.

Notably, based on this study, two to three times as many male partners tested positive in the self-testing arm than in the control arm. However, the proportion of men who went for

confirmatory testing and linkage to care was low enough that the intervention arm did not show a great improvement in the number of HIV-positive men linked to care.

This is similar to what was found in an RCT in Kenya, where women reported that 25 percent (n = 2 of 8) of their male partners in the HIVST group linked to confirmatory testing at a 3-month follow-up, and then to care, while in the control group, all 4 male partners diagnosed HIV-positive linked to care (Masters et al. 2016). These findings underscore the need for further research in this area, and careful monitoring of people using self-testing as the practice is rolled out on a larger scale.

It is possible that individuals who test positive through self-testing and do not immediately link to care could still change their sexual behavior to reduce the risk of transmitting HIV to sexual partners. Our extended follow-up period revealed that a meaningful proportion (approximately 10%) of men testing positive through HIVST showed delayed linkage to care after our month 3 visit, highlighting the importance of longer follow-ups to better understand long-term linkage to and retention in care for individuals testing positive through HIVST.

Linkage to care in a study in Malawi was 41.7 percent in the researchers' first estimate, but increased to 56.3 percent after adding those who had already initiated antiretroviral therapy by one year (Choko et al. 2015). Additionally, it may be useful to develop and test interventions to improve overall linkage to care after HIVST.

Our study findings reflect a higher percentage (45.5%) of men linked to care in the control arm, compared with the intervention arm (23.8%). This could be due to the men's not being ready to commit to long-term treatment, inconvenience of accessing clinics (travel, wait, opportunity costs), fear or avoidance of a needle stick or privacy concerns; whereas those who test at a clinic are already there and are, therefore, easier to enroll in immediate treatment.

Approximately 31 percent of men who tested positive on self-testing were assessed for antiretroviral therapy eligibility, but only 19.2 percent were initiated on treatment in Malawi (Maheswaran et al. 2016), and no partner of pregnant women attending ANC in Kenya came for confirmatory testing or was even linked to care (Masters et al. 2016).

As part of phase 3, we interviewed HIV-positive men who had linked to HIV care to document the factors that facilitated the linkage. We asked those who had linked to care whether they were still in care (and what had helped them remain in care). We also interviewed men who had linked to care but dropped out, as well as those who had never linked to care since they self-tested for HIV. Our findings show that provision of post-test counseling support is crucial for enhanced linkage to and retention in HIV care.

Individuals who were able to link to care cited the counseling support that they received from professional health workers, coupled with psychosocial support from their relatives, as having been crucial for their ability to link to and remain in HIV care. HIV-positive men who remained in care also cited the role that their spouses or female sexual partners played in supporting them to remain in care, highlighting the importance of tapping into nontraditional support mechanisms (including working with spouses or female partners) to improve retention in HIV care among HIV-positive men. However, lack of HIV status

disclosure and fear of being seen by people who reside in the same community as HIV-positive men acted as a deterrent to retention in HIV care.

HIV-positive men who did not link to HIV care cited two main reasons: (a) they were not ready to commit to life-long HIV treatment – possibly driven by misconceptions from their peers (for example, beliefs that being on HIV treatment makes one "fat and black"); and (b) the feeling that they (HIV-positive men) were still strong and did not need to start HIV treatment at the time.

The issue of men's still feeling strong as a deterrent to engaging in HIV care has been cited in previous studies (Nyamhanga et al. 2013; Camlin et al. 2016a; Gregson et al. 2011; Musheke et al. 2016), and borders on what has come to be known as "hegemonic masculinity norms," in which men project themselves as being strong and resilient, whereas those who seek HIV care services are seen as weak or not "man enough" (Siu et al. 2013).

Studies have also documented the fact that men tend to be less represented in health facility settings where HIV treatment and other HIV services are provided (Nyamhanga et al. 2013; Camlin et al. 2016a), suggesting a need for alternative models of reaching HIV-positive men and linking them to care, including the provision of home-based antiretroviral therapy, which has been proven to be successful in several settings (Govindasamy et al. 2014).

Overall, few women in the intervention and control groups reported any negative social outcomes related to HIV testing, similar to what was reported in a meta-analysis on HIVST (Johnson et al. 2017). Although there seems to be much anxiety that HIVST could exacerbate or bring about intimate partner violence, this does not seem to be the case. However, more research is needed to critically study this in larger-scale programs and studies.

### 5.3 Strategies for delivering HIV self-testing kits

In general, women used positive strategies to deliver HIVST kits to their male partners, but some used less honest methods. Our qualitative findings show that HIVST was accepted and associated with positive benefits, including a chance to learn about the partner's HIV status and to disclose HIV status.

Women used a number of positive strategies to deliver the kits to their male partners: enlisting the support of a health worker in convincing the male partner to use the kit; asking that the HIVST kits be sent to the male partners by the health workers; and waiting for "opportune moments."

Some women used less-than-honest methods to convince their male partners to use the kits, including (a) concealing some information about the HIVST kit from the male partner (for example, telling the male partner that the kit was for HIVST, but not telling him how the results should be interpreted); (b) lying about the purpose of the kit (for example, telling the male partner the HIVST kit was meant to test all "blood-related" diseases in the body); and (c) controlling the HIVST process (for example, one woman swabbed the male partner and conducted the self-testing exercise herself instead of teaching her partner how to do it on his own).

The use of these methods raises a number of public health implications. For instance, a woman's controlling the HIVST process denies the man the opportunity to conduct the test himself (the essence of self-testing) and implies a sign of coercion from the female partner. Although the number of women who used these undesirable strategies was quite small – three or four women – we thought it important to report them, since they have serious implications for HIVST.

### 5.4 Coping mechanisms of HIV-discordant couples after HIV self-testing

In interviews, we observed that the majority (11 of 18) of individuals in HIV-discordant relationships had previously tested for HIV and were aware of their HIV-discordant status by the time they self-tested for HIV. As a result, many had been able to move beyond the most critical or difficult stages in the coping process and had settled down with their partners. This observation was true for those who first learned of their serodiscordant status when they self-tested, since the follow-up visits were made 6–18 months posttest. Thus, we were not able to link any coping mechanisms observed to HIVST.

However, we still inquired how individuals in HIV-discordant relationships coped with HIV discordance by asking them to take us back in time to when they first learned of their serodiscordance and how they had coped with their different HIV statuses thereafter. We thought this would still be important for programs intending to assist couples in coping with HIV-discordant status. Our findings have a number of program implications:

 In line with the quantitative findings, our qualitative findings show that HIVpositive women were initially afraid their partners would chase them from the house, whereas HIV-negative women thought of separating from their HIVpositive partners, possibly to avoid HIV infection. Initially, 48.9 percent of women and 41.5 percent of men in HIV-discordant relationships thought of ending the relationship, but the majority of individuals who initially had these thoughts did not separate.

In the qualitative interviews, we found that individuals who had thought of separation continued with the relationship. These individuals mentioned that counseling from professional counselors, coupled with psychosocial support from relatives and close friends, had helped them stay together. These findings suggest that HIV-discordant couples can be supported to remain together through counseling support, reinforced with psychosocial support from nontraditional sources of support, including relatives and friends.

2. Couples reported that learning about their HIV-discordant status initially created an emotional distance between partners. This manifested through reduced frequency of sexual intercourse and disgust associated with always using condoms with their marital partners, something they were not used to. Initially, couples found it hard to cope with condom use at every sexual encounter, resulting in reduced frequency of sex for some couples.

In a few couples, HIV-negative men refused to use condoms and continued to have unprotected sex, which put them at risk of HIV infection. These findings highlight a need for ongoing supportive counseling to assist couples to explore

nonpenetrative forms of sexual satisfaction, if they are unable to use condoms every time they have sex, to reduce the risk of HIV infection.

- 3. Some participants particularly HIV-positive men thought of committing suicide after they learned of their HIV-discordant status. They were counseled out of these thoughts by health providers and relatives, and no suicide was reported. This finding reinforces the need to provide appropriate post-test counseling support to HIV-discordant couples to help them appreciate their serodiscordant status and plan how to cope with it thereafter.
- 4. Two mechanisms were cited as the main factors that enabled individuals to cope with HIV serodiscordance: post-test counseling support from health workers and psychosocial support from their mothers, sisters, other siblings and close friends after they disclosed their HIV-discordant status to them. As we note in the quantitative findings, 78.6 percent of women and 90.9 percent of men in HIV-discordant relationships reported that these friends and family members encouraged them to stay in their relationships. These approaches should be maximized in supporting HIV-discordant couples to cope with their different HIV statuses.

### 5.5 Cost-effectiveness analysis

We showed that the cost of the intervention was driven mainly by the cost of the selftesting kits, and that the cost-effectiveness of the intervention would be very sensitive to lowering the cost of test kits and using the intervention in priority populations with higher HIV prevalence, such fishing communities and sex workers and their partners. Partner HIV and sexually transmitted infection notification programs are needed.

In another report, we will provide detailed sensitivity analyses examining the effect of joint distribution of all parameters using probabilistic methods. We will use generic outcomes, such as QALYs and DALYs, to provide for comparability of results across interventions. Because of incomplete data on linkage to care, we did not have sufficient data to assess cost-effectiveness with respect to linkage to care.

### 5.6 Conclusion and recommendations for policy and practice

Our results demonstrate a significant increase in individual and couples HIV testing when oral self-testing is available at home. This option appears to break down several barriers to testing, including time and effort required to attend clinic, expense associated with attending clinic, lack of privacy, lack of control and fear of stigma. HIVST also does not seem to increase negative social harms, compared with the standard of care, and could reduce providers' workload by screening HIV-negative individuals through HIVST.

However, our results do not show that men testing positive through self-testing are as likely to link to care as men who test positive at a clinic. This question clearly deserves further study; better understanding of longer-term linkage to care among those who test positive through oral self-testing will be extremely important in planning public health programs in Uganda and other countries. Advocacy for reducing the cost of test kits, along with targeting the intervention to settings with higher HIV prevalence, will be important for scale-up.

We have the following recommendations for policy and practice:

- HIVST should be integrated as one of the recognized approaches for HIV testing;
- Additional support may be required to ensure linkage to care for individuals who test HIV-positive through HIVST, including provision of home-based antiretroviral therapy initiation; and
- Further evaluations, and research with larger numbers and longer-term follow-up of newly diagnosed HIV-positive individuals, are needed to ascertain better the linkage to and retention in care and social harms following HIVST.

### References

Baiden, F, Baiden, R, Williams, J, Akweongo, P, Clerk, C, Debpuur, C, Philips, J and Hodgson, A, 2005. Review of antenatal-linked voluntary counseling and HIV testing in Sub-Saharan Africa: lessons and options for Ghana. *Ghana Medical Journal*, 39(1), pp.8–13. Available at: <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17299534">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17299534</a>> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

Bajunirwe, F and Muzoora, M, 2005. Barriers to the implementation of programs for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV: a cross-sectional survey in rural and urban Uganda. *AIDS Research and Therapy*, 2(10). Available at: <a href="http://www.aidsrestherapy.com/content/2/1/10"></a> [Accessed 26 September 2018].

Byamugisha, R, Åstrøm, A, Ndeezi, G, Karamagi, C, Tylleskär, T and Tumwine, J, 2011. Male partner antenatal attendance and HIV testing in eastern Uganda: a randomized facility-based intervention trial. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 14(43). Available at: <a href="http://www.jiasociety.org/content/14/1/43">http://www.jiasociety.org/content/14/1/43</a> [Accessed 26 September 2018].

Camlin, C, Ssemmondo, E, Chamie, G, El Ayadi, A, Kwarisiima, D, Sang, N, Kabami, J, Charlebois, E, Petersen, M, Clark, T and Bukusi, E, 2016a. Men 'missing' from population-based HIV testing: insights from qualitative research. *AIDS Care*, 28 Suppl 3(sup3), pp.67–73. Available at:

<http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09540121.2016.1164806> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

Camlin, CS, Seeley, J, Viljoen, L, Vernooij, E, Simwinga, M, Reynolds, L, Reis, R, Plank, R, Orne-Gliemann, J, McGrath, N and Larmarange, J, 2016b. Strengthening universal HIV 'test-and-treat' approaches with social science research. *AIDS*, 30(6), pp.969–970. Available at: <a href="https://insights.ovid.com/crossref?an=00002030-201603270-00019">https://insights.ovid.com/crossref?an=00002030-201603270-00019</a> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

Choko, AT, MacPherson, P, Webb, EL, Willey, BA, Feasy, H, Sambakunsi, R, Mdolo, A, Makombe, SD, Desmond, N, Hayes, R and Maheswaran, H, 2015. Uptake, accuracy, safety, and linkage into care over two years of promoting annual self-testing for HIV in Blantyre, Malawi: a community-based prospective study. *PLoS Medicine*, 12(9), p.e1001873. Available at: <a href="http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-84943168688&partnerID=tZOtx3y1>">http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-84943168688&partnerID=tZOtx3y1></a> [Accessed 23 November 2015].

Conkling, M, Shutes, EL, Karita, E, Chomba, E, Tichacek, A, Sinkala, M, Vwalika, B, Iwanowski, M and Allen, SA, 2010. Couples' voluntary counselling and testing and nevirapine use in antenatal clinics in two African capitals: a prospective cohort study. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 13(10). Available at: <a href="http://www.jiasociety.org/content/13/1/10">http://www.jiasociety.org/content/13/1/10</a> [Accessed 26 September 2018].

de Walque, D and Kline, R, 2012. The association between remarriage and HIV infection in 13 Sub-Saharan African countries. *Studies in Family Planning*, 43(1), pp.1–10. Available at: <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23185867">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23185867</a> [Accessed 3 December 2018]. Desgrées-Du-Loû, A, Brou, H, Djohan, G, Becquet, R, Ekouevi, DK, Zanou, B, Viho, I, Allou, G, Dabis, F, Leroy, V and ANRS 1201/1202/1253 Ditrame Plus Study Group, 2009. Beneficial effects of offering prenatal HIV counselling and testing on developing a HIV preventive attitude among couples. Abidjan, 2002–2005. *AIDS and Behavior*, 13(2), pp.348–355. Available at: <a href="http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10461-007-9316-6">http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10461-007-9316-6</a> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

Farquhar, C, Kiarie, JN, Richardson, BA, Kabura, MN, John, FN, Nduati, RW, Mbori-Ngacha, DA and John-Stewart, GC, 2004. Antenatal couple counseling increases uptake of interventions to prevent HIV-1 transmission. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes (1999)*, 37(5), pp.1620–1626. Available at: <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15577420">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15577420</a> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

Gichangi, A, Korte, JE, Wambua, J, Vrana, C and Stevens, D, 2017. *Increasing male partner HIV testing using self-test kits in Kenya*. Impact Evaluation Report 62. Available at: <a href="https://www.3ieimpact.org/evidence-hub/publications/impact-evaluations/increasing-male-partner-hiv-testing-using-self-test">https://www.3ieimpact.org/evidence-hub/publications/impact-evaluations/increasing-male-partner-hiv-testing-using-self-test> [Accessed 20 February 2018].

Govindasamy, D, Meghij, J, Negussi, EK, Baggaley, RC, Ford, N and Kranzer, K, 2014. Interventions to improve or facilitate linkage to or retention in pre-ART (HIV) care and initiation of ART in low- and middle-income settings: a systematic review. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 17(1), p.19032. Available at: <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25095831">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25095831</a> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

Gregson, S, Mushati, P, Grusin, H, Nhamo, M, Schumacher, C, Skovdal, M, Nyamukapa, C and Campbell, C, 2011. Social capital and women's reduced vulnerability to HIV infection in rural Zimbabwe. *Population and Development Review*, 37(2), pp.333– 59. Available at: <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22066129">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22066129</a> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

Hensen, B, Baggaley, R, Wong, VJ, Grabbe, KL, Shaffer, N, Lo, YRJ and Hargreaves, J, 2012. Universal voluntary HIV testing in antenatal care settings: a review of the contribution of provider-initiated testing counselling. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, 17(1), pp.59–70. Available at: <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22032300">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22032300</a> [Accessed 26 September 2018].

Johnson, CC, Kennedy, C, Fonner, V, Siegfried, N, Figueroa, C, Dalal, S, Sands, A and Baggaley, R, 2017. Examining the effects of HIV self-testing compared to standard HIV testing services: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 20. Available at:

<a href="http://www.jiasociety.org/index.php/jias/article/view/21594>">http://www.jiasociety.org/index.php/jias/article/view/21594></a> [Accessed 26 September 2018].

Maheswaran, H, Petrou, S, MacPherson, P, Choko, AT, Kumwenda, F, Lalloo, DG, Clarke, A and Corbett, EL, 2016. Cost and quality of life analysis of HIV self-testing and facility-based HIV testing and counselling in Blantyre, Malawi. *BMC Medicine*, 14(34). Available at:

<a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4759936/pdf/12916\_2016\_Article\_577.p">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4759936/pdf/12916\_2016\_Article\_577.p</a> df> [Accessed 26 September 2018].

Maman, S, Mbwambo, J, Hogan, NM, Kilonzo, GP and Sweat, M, 2001. Women's barriers to HIV-1 testing and disclosure: challenges for HIV-1 voluntary counselling and testing. *AIDS Care*, 13(5), pp.595–603. Available at:

<a href="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09540120120063223">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09540120120063223</a> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

Masters, SH, Agot, K, Obonyo, B, Mavedzenge, SN, Maman, S and Thirumurthy, H, 2016. Promoting partner testing and couples testing through secondary distribution of HIV self-tests: a randomized clinical trial. *PLoS Medicine*, 13(11), p.e1002166. Available at: <a href="http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002166">http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002166</a> [Accessed 5 June 2018].

Matida, LH, Santos, NJS, Ramos Jr, AN, Gianna, MC, da Silva, MH, Domingues, CSB, de Albuquerque Possas, C and Hearst, N, 2011. Eliminating vertical transmission of HIV in São Paulo, Brazil: progress and challenges. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome*, 57(3), pp.S164–S170.

Matovu, JK, Buregyeya, E, Arinaitwe, J and Wanyenze, RK, 2017. '... if you bring the kit home, you [can] get time and test together with your partner': Pregnant women and male partners' perceptions regarding female partner-delivered HIV self-testing in Uganda – a qualitative study. *International Journal of STD & AIDS*, 28(13), pp.1341–1347. Available at: <a href="http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0956462417705800">http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0956462417705800</a>> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

Mavedzenge, SN, Baggaley, R and Corbett, EL, 2013. A review of self-testing for HIV: research and policy priorities in a new era of HIV prevention. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 57(1), pp.126–38. Available at:

<https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3669524/pdf/cit156.pdf> [Accessed 26 September 2018].

Ministry of Health, 2010. HIV counselling and testing policy (HCT). Kampala, Uganda: Ministry of Health, Republic of Uganda.

Ministry of Health, ICF International, CDC, USAID and WHO, 2011. Uganda AIDS indicator survey (AIS). Kampala, Uganda: Ministry of Health; Calverton, Maryland: ICF International; Entebbe, Uganda: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC); Kampala, Uganda: United States Agency for International Development (USAID); and Kampala, Uganda: World Health Organization (WHO). Available at: <a href="https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/AIS10/AIS10.pdf">https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/AIS10/AIS10.pdf</a>> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

Msuya, SE, Mbizvo, EM, Hussain, A, Uriyo, J, Sam, NE and Stray-Pedersen, B, 2008. Low male partner participation in antenatal HIV counselling and testing in northern Tanzania: implications for preventive programs. *AIDS Care*, 20(6), pp.700–709. Available at: <a href="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09540120701687059">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09540120701687059</a> [Accessed 26 September 2018].

Mumtaz, Z, Merchant, N and Levay, A, 2013. Women's health care factors influencing the uptake of HIV testing during antenatal care in rural Uganda. *Women's Health Care*, 2(121). Available at: doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2167-0420.1000121 [Accessed 26 September 26 2018].
Musheke, M, Merten, S and Bond, V, 2016. Why do marital partners of people living with HIV not test for HIV? A qualitative study in Lusaka, Zambia. *BMC Public Health*, 16(1), p.882. Available at: <a href="http://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-016-3396-z">http://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-016-3396-z</a> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

Nyamhanga, TM, Muhondwa, EPY and Shayo, R, 2013. Masculine attitudes of superiority deter men from accessing antiretroviral therapy in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Global Health Action*, 6(1), p.21812. Available at:

<a href="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.3402/gha.v6i0.21812">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.3402/gha.v6i0.21812</a> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

Peltzer, K, Mosala, T, Dana, P and Fomundam, H, 2008. Follow-up survey of women who have undergone a prevention of mother-to-child transmission program in a resource-poor setting in South Africa. *The Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care: JANAC*, 19(6), pp.450–60. Available at:

<a href="http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1055329008001842">http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1055329008001842</a> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

Siu, GE, Seeley, J and Wight, D, 2013. Dividuality, masculine respectability and reputation: How masculinity affects men's uptake of HIV treatment in rural eastern Uganda. *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, 89, pp.45–52. Available at: <a href="https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0277953613002578">https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0277953613002578</a> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

Uganda AIDS Commission, 2011. National HIV and AIDS strategic plan 2011/2012-2014/2015.

Uganda AIDS Commission and Ministry of Health, 2015. The HIV and AIDS country progress report 2014. Available at:

<http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/country/documents/UGA\_narrative\_report\_201 5.pdf> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

UNAIDS, 2014. The gap report: UNAIDS. Available at: <a href="http://files.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/unaidspublication/2014/UNAIDS">http://files.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/unaidspublication/2014/UNAIDS</a> Gap report en.pdf> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

UNAIDS, 2016. Global AIDS update 2016. Available at: <a href="http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media\_asset/global-AIDS-update-2016\_en.pdf">http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media\_asset/global-AIDS-update-2016\_en.pdf</a> [Accessed 26 June 2018].

WHO, 2007. Guidance on provider-initiated HIV testing and counselling in health facilities. World Health Organization (WHO).

WHO, 2011. Towards the elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HIV: report of a WHO technical consultation, Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (WHO). Available at:

<http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44638/9789241501910\_eng.pdf> [Accessed 26 September 2018].

WHO, 2014. Global update on the health sector response to HIV, 2014. World Health Organization (WHO). Available at:

<http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/128494/9789241507585\_eng.pdf;jsessio nid=DE6241E5E21AA9AC141694CCA150A835?sequence=1> [Accessed 3 December 2018].

WHO, 2015. Consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services. World Health Organization (WHO). Available at:

<http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/179870/1/9789241508926\_eng.pdf?ua=1&ua=1 > [Accessed 8 June 2017].

WHO, 2016. Guidelines on HIV self-testing and partner notification: supplement to consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services. World Health Organization (WHO). Available at: <a href="http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/251655/1/9789241549868-eng.pdf?ua=1">http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/251655/1/9789241549868-eng.pdf?ua=1</a> [Accessed 8 June 2017].

## Other publications in the 3ie Impact Evaluation Report Series

The following reports are available from http://3ieimpact.org/evidencehub/publications/impact-evaluations

*Improving the quality of care for children with acute malnutrition in Uganda*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 101. Marzia, L, Wanzira, H, Lochoro, P and Putoto, G, 2019.

*Impacts of increasing community resilience through humanitarian aid in Pakistan*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 100. Avdeenko, A and Frölich, M, 2019.

*Impacts of community monitoring of socio-environmental liabilities in the Ecuadorian and Peruvian Amazon,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 99. Pellegrini, L, 2019.

*Increasing HIV testing demand among Kenyan truck drivers and female sex workers*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 98. Kelvin, E, George, G, Mwai, E, Kinyanjui, S, Inoti, S, Chetty, T, Strauss, M, Romo, M, Oruko, F, Odhiambo J, Nyaga, E, Mantell, J and Govender, K, 2019.

*Impacts of community stakeholder engagement interventions in Ugandan oil extractives,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 97. Parker, R, Coleman, E, Manyindo, J, Schultz, B and Mukuru, E, 2019.

*The impacts of formal registration of businesses in Malawi,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 96. Campos, F, Goldstein, M and McKenzie, D, 2019.

Unpacking the determinants of entrepreneurship development and economic empowerment for women in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 95. McKenzie, D, Puerto, S and Odhiambo, F, 2019.

*Impacts of key provisions in Ghana's Petroleum Revenue Management Act,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 94. Edjekumhene, I, Voors, M, Lujala, P, Brunnschweiler, C, Owusu, CK and Nyamekye, A, 2019.

*Using information to break the political resource curse in natural gas management in Mozambique,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 93. Armand, A, Costa, AI, Coutts, A, Vicente, P and Vilela, I, 2019.

Harnessing transparency initiatives to improve India's environmental clearance process for the mineral mining sector, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 92. Pande, R and Sudarshan, A, 2019.

*Impacts of removing user fees for maternal health services on universal health coverage in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 91. Abuya, T, Dennis, M, Matanda, D, Obare, F and Bellows, B, 2018.

*Impact of voice reminders to reinforce harvest aggregation services training for farmers in Mali*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 90. Osei, RD, Dzanku, FM, Osei-Akoto, I, Asante, F, Hodey, LS, Adu, PN, Adu-Ababio, K and Coulibaly, M, 2018.

*Impacts of Breakthrough's school-based gender attitude change programme in Haryana, India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 89. Jayachandran, S, Jain, T and Dhar, D, 2018.

Hotspot interventions at scale: the effects of policing and city services on crime in *Bogotá, Colombia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 88. Blattman, C, Green, D, Ortega, D and Tobón, S, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of the Philippine Special Program for Employment of Students,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 87. Beam, E, Linden, L, Quimbo, S and Richmond, H, 2018.

*Community-based distribution of oral HIV self-testing kits: experimental evidence from Zambia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 86. Hensen, B, Ayles, H, Mulubwa, C, Floyd, S, Schaap, A, Chiti, B, Phiri, M, Mwenge, L, Simwinga, M, Fidler S, Hayes, R, Bond, V and Mwinga, A, 2018.

*Evaluating the economic impacts of rural banking: experimental evidence from southern India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 85. Field, E and Pande, R, 2018.

Direct provision versus facility collection of HIV tests: impacts of self-testing among female sex workers in Uganda. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 84. Ortblad, K, Musoke, DK, Ngabirano, T, Oldenburg, C and Bärnighausen, T, 2018.

*Increasing female sex worker HIV testing: effects of peer educators and HIV self-tests in Zambia*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 83. Chanda, MM, Ortblad, KF, Mwale, M, Chongo, S, Kanchele, C, Kamungoma, N, Fullem, A, Bärnighausen, T and Oldenburg, CE, 2018.

*Community delivery of antiretroviral drugs: a non-inferiority matched-pair pragmatic cluster-randomized trial in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 82. Francis, JM, Geldsetzer, P, Asmus, G, Ulenga, N, Ambikapathi, R, Sando, D, Fawzi, W and Bärnighausen, T, 2018.

*Nourishing the future: targeting infants and their caregivers to reduce undernutrition in rural China,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 81. Cai, J, Luo, R, Li, H, Lien, J, Medina, A, Zhou, H and Zhang, L, 2018.

Impacts of the World Food Programme's interventions to treat malnutrition in Niger. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 80. Brück, T, Ferguson, NTN, Ouédraogo, J and Ziegelhöfer, Z, 2018.

Impact evaluation of the World Food Programme's moderate acute malnutrition treatment and prevention programmes in Sudan. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 79. Guevarra, E, Mandalazi, E, Balegamire, S, Albrektsen, K, Sadler, K, Abdelsalam, K, Urrea, G and Alawad, S, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of WFP's programs targeting moderate acute malnutrition in humanitarian situations in Chad.* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 78. Saboya, M, Rudiger, J, Frize, J, Ruegenberg, D, Rodríguez Seco, A and McMillon, C, 2018.

*Improving midday meal delivery and encouraging micronutrient fortification among children in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 77. Shastry, GK, Berry, J, Mukherjee, P, Mehta, S and Ruebeck, H, 2018.

*Evaluation of infant development centres: an early years intervention in Colombia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 76. Andrew, A, Attanasio, O, Bernal, R, Cordona, L, Krutikova, S, Heredia, DM, Medina, C, Peña, X, Rubio-Codina, M and Vera-Hernandez, M, 2018.

*Can the wounds of war be healed? Experimental evidence on reconciliation in Sierra Leone.* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 75. Cilliers, J, Dube, O and Siddiqi, B, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of the Menabe and Melaky development programme in Madagascar,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 74. Ring, H, Morey, M, Kavanagh, E, Kamto, K, McCarthy, N, Brubaker, J and Rakotondrafara, C, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of the Smallholder Dairy Commercialization Programme in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 73. Bonilla, J, McCarthy, N, Mugatha, S, Rai, N, Coombes, A and Brubaker, J, 2018.

*Impact and adoption of risk-reducing drought-tolerant rice in India*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 72. Yamano, T, Dar, MH, Panda, A, Gupta, I, Malabayabas, ML and Kelly, E, 2018.

*Poverty and empowerment impacts of the Bihar Rural Livelihoods Project in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 71. Hoffmann, V, Rao, V, Datta, U, Sanyal, P, Surendra, V and Majumdar, S 2018.

How should Tanzania use its natural gas? Citizens' views from a nationwide Deliberative *Poll*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 70. Birdsall, N, Fishkin, J, Haqqi, F, Kinyondo, A, Moyo, M, Richmond, J and Sandefur, J, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of the conditional cash transfer program for secondary school attendance in Macedonia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 69. Armand, A and Carneiro, P, 2018.

Age at marriage, women's education, and mother and child outcomes in Bangladesh, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 68. Field, E, Glennerster, R, Nazneen, S, Pimkina, S, Sen, I and Buchmann, N, 2018.

*Evaluating agricultural information dissemination in western Kenya*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 67. Fabregas, R, Kremer, M, Robinson, J and Schilbach, F, 2017.

*General equilibrium impact assessment of the Productive Safety Net Program in Ethiopia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 66. Filipski, M, Taylor, JE, Abegaz, GA, Ferede, T, Taffesse, AS and Diao, X, 2017.

*Impact of the Uddeepan programme on child health and nutrition in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 65. Kochar, A, Sharma, A and Sharma, A, 2017.

*Evaluating oral HIV self-testing to increase HIV testing uptake among truck drivers in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 64. Kelvin, EA, Mwai, E, Romo, ML, George, G, Govender, K, Mantell, JE, Strauss, M, Nyaga, EN and Odhiambo, JO, 2017.

Integration of EPI and paediatric HIV services for improved ART initiation in Zimbabwe, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 63. Prescott, M, Boeke, C, Gotora, T, Mafaune, HW, Motsi, W, Graves, J, Mangwiro, A and McCarthy, E, 2017. *Increasing male partner HIV testing using self-test kits in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 62. Gichangi, A, Korte, JE, Wambua, J, Vrana, C and Stevens, D, 2017.

*Evaluating the impact of community health worker integration into prevention of motherto-child transmission of HIV services in Tanzania,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 61. Nance, N, McCoy, S, Ngilangwa, D, Masanja, J, Njau, P and Noronha, R, 2017.

*Using HIV self-testing to promote male partner and couples testing in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 60. Thirumurthy, H, Omanga, E, Obonyo, B, Masters, S and Agot, K, 2017.

*Increasing male partner HIV self-testing at antenatal care clinics in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 59. Gichangi, A, Korte, JE, Wambua, J, Vrana, C and Stevens, D, 2017.

*Impact of free availability of public childcare on labour supply and child development in Brazil*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 58. Attanasio, O, Paes de Barros, R, Carneiro, P, Evans, D, Lima, L, Olinto, P and Schady, N, 2017.

*Estimating the effects of a low-cost early stimulation and parenting education programme in Mexico,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 57. Cardenas, S, Evans, D and Holland, P, 2017.

*The Better Obstetrics in Rural Nigeria study: an impact evaluation of the Nigerian Midwives Service Scheme,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 56. Okeke, E, Glick, P, Abubakar, IS, Chari, AV, Pitchforth, E, Exley, J, Bashir, U, Setodji, C, Gu, K and Onwujekwe, O, 2017.

*The Productive Safety Net Programme in Ethiopia: impacts on children's schooling, labour and nutritional status*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 55. Berhane, G, Hoddinott, J, Kumar, N and Margolies, A, 2016.

*The impact of youth skills training on the financial behaviour, employability and educational choice in Morocco,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 54. Bausch, J, Dyer, P, Gardiner, D, Kluve, J and Mizrokhi, E, 2016.

*Using advertisements to create demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in South Africa,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 53. Frade, S, Friedman, W, Rech, D and Wilson, N, 2016.

*The use of peer referral incentives to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Zambia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 52. Zanolini, A, Bolton, C, Lyabola, LL, Phiri, G, Samona, A, Kaonga, A and Harsha Thirumurthy, H, 2016.

*Using smartphone raffles to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Tanzania,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 51. Mahler, H and Bazant, E, 2016.

*Voluntary medical male circumcision uptake through soccer in Zimbabwe,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 50. DeCelles, J, Kaufman, Z, Bhauti, K, Hershow, R, Weiss, H, Chaibva, C, Moyo, N, Braunschweig, E, Mantula, F, Hatzold, K and Ross, D, 2016.

*Measuring the impact of SMS-based interventions on uptake of voluntary medical male circumcision in Zambia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 49. Leiby, K, Connor, A, Tsague, L, Sapele, C, Koanga, A, Kakaire, J and Wang, P, 2016.

Assessing the impact of delivering messages through intimate partners to create demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 48. Semeere, AS, Bbaale, DS, Castelnuovo, B, Kiragga, A, Kigozi, J, Muganzi, A, Kambugu, A and Coutinho, AG, 2016.

*Optimising the use of economic interventions to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 47. Thirumurthy, H, Omanga, E, Rao, SO, Murray, K, Masters, S and Agot, K, 2016.

*The impact of earned and windfall cash transfers on livelihoods and conservation in Sierra Leone,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 46. Bulte, E, Conteh, B, Kontoleon, A, List, J, Mokuwa, E, Richards, P, Turley, T and Voors, M, 2016.

*Property tax experiment in Pakistan: Incentivising tax collection and improving performance,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 45. Khan, A, Khwaja, A and Olken, B, 2016.

*Impact of mobile message reminders on tuberculosis treatment outcomes in Pakistan,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 44. Mohammed, S, Glennerster, R and Khan, A, 2016.

*Making networks work for policy: Evidence from agricultural technology adoption in Malawi,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 43. Beaman, L, BenYishay, A, Fatch, P, Magruder, J and Mobarak, AM, 2016.

*Estimating the impact and cost-effectiveness of expanding access to secondary education in Ghana,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 42. Dupas, P, Duflo, E and Kremer, M, 2016.

*Evaluating the effectiveness of computers as tutors in China, 3*ie Impact Evaluation Report 41. Mo, D, Bai, Y, Boswell, M and Rozelle, S, 2016.

*Micro entrepreneurship support programme in Chile,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 40. Martínez, CA, Puentes, EE and Ruiz-Tagle, JV, 2016.

*Thirty-five years later: evaluating the impacts of a child health and family planning programme in Bangladesh,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 39. Barham, T, Kuhn, R, Menken, J and Razzaque, A, 2016.

*Effectiveness of a rural sanitation programme on diarrhoea, soil-transmitted helminth infection and malnutrition in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 38. Clasen, T, Boisson, S, Routray, P, Torondel, B, Bell, M, Cumming, O, Ensink, J, Freeman, M and Jenkins, M, 2016.

*Evaluating the impact of vocational education vouchers on out-of-school youth in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 37. Hicks, JH, Kremer, M, Mbiti, I and Miguel, E, 2016.

*Removing barriers to higher education in Chile: evaluation of peer effects and scholarships for test preparation,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 36. Banerjee, A, Duflo E and Gallego, F, 2016.

*Sustainability of impact: dimensions of decline and persistence in adopting a biofortified crop in Uganda,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 35. McNiven, S, Gilligan, DO and Hotz, C 2016.

A triple win? The impact of Tanzania's Joint Forest Management programme on *livelihoods, governance and forests*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 34. Persha, L and Meshack, C, 2016.

*The effect of conditional transfers on intimate partner violence: evidence from Northern Ecuador,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 33. Hidrobo, M, Peterman, A and Heise, L, 2016.

*The effect of transfers and preschool on children's cognitive development in Uganda,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 32. Gillian, DO and Roy, S, 2016.

*Can egovernance reduce capture of public programmes? Experimental evidence from India's employment guarantee,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 31. Banerjee, A, Duflo, E, Imbert, C, Mathew, S and Pande, R, 2015.

*Improving maternal and child health in India: evaluating demand and supply strategies,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 30. Mohanan, M, Miller, G, Forgia, GL, Shekhar, S and Singh, K, 2016.

*Smallholder access to weather securities in India: demand and impact on production decisions,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 28. Ceballos, F, Manuel, I, Robles, M and Butler, A, 2015.

What happens once the intervention ends? The medium-term impacts of a cash transfer programme in Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 27. Baird, S, Chirwa, E, McIntosh, C and Özler, B, 2015.

*Validation of hearing screening procedures in Ecuadorian schools,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 26. Muñoz, K, White, K, Callow-Heusser, C and Ortiz, E, 2015.

Assessing the impact of farmer field schools on fertilizer use in China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 25. Burger, N, Fu, M, Gu, K, Jia, X, Kumar, KB and Mingliang, G, 2015.

*The SASA! study: a cluster randomised trial to assess the impact of a violence and HIV prevention programme in Kampala,* Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 24. Watts, C, Devries, K, Kiss, L, Abramsky, T, Kyegombe, N and Michau, L, 2014.

Enhancing food production and food security through improved inputs: an evaluation of *Tanzania's National Agricultural Input Voucher Scheme with a focus on gender impacts,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 23. Gine, X, Patel, S, Cuellar-Martinez, C, McCoy, S and Lauren, R, 2015.

*A wide angle view of learning: evaluation of the CCE and LEP programmes in Haryana,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 22. Duflo, E, Berry, J, Mukerji, S and Shotland, M, 2015.

*Shelter from the storm: upgrading housing infrastructure in Latin American slums*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 21. Galiani, S, Gertler, P, Cooper, R, Martinez, S, Ross, A and Undurraga, R, 2015.

*Environmental and socioeconomic impacts of Mexico's payments for ecosystem services programme*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 20. Alix-Garcia, J, Aronson, G, Radeloff, V, Ramirez-Reyes, C, Shapiro, E, Sims, K and Yañez-Pagans, P, 2015.

A randomised evaluation of the effects of an agricultural insurance programme on rural households' behaviour: evidence from China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 19. Cai, J, de Janvry, A and Sadoulet, E, 2014.

*Impact of malaria control and enhanced literacy instruction on educational outcomes among school children in Kenya: a multi-sectoral, prospective, randomised evaluation,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 18. Brooker, S and Halliday, K, 2015.

Assessing long-term impacts of conditional cash transfers on children and young adults *in rural Nicaragua*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 17. Barham, T, Macours, K, Maluccio, JA, Regalia, F, Aguilera, V and Moncada, ME, 2014.

*The impact of mother literacy and participation programmes on child learning: evidence from a randomised evaluation in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 16. Banerji, R, Berry, J and Shortland, M, 2014.

*A youth wage subsidy experiment for South Africa,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 15. Levinsohn, J, Rankin, N, Roberts, G and Schöer, V, 2014.

*Providing collateral and improving product market access for smallholder farmers: a randomised evaluation of inventory credit in Sierra Leone,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 14. Casaburi, L, Glennerster, R, Suri, T and Kamara, S, 2014.

*Scaling up male circumcision service provision: results from a randomised evaluation in Malawi,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 13. Thornton, R, Chinkhumba, J, Godlonton, S and Pierotti, R, 2014.

*Targeting the poor: evidence from a field experiment in Indonesia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 12. Atlas, V, Banerjee, A, Hanna, R, Olken, B, Wai-poi, M and Purnamasari, R, 2014.

An impact evaluation of information disclosure on elected representatives' performance: evidence from rural and urban India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 11. Banerjee, A, Duflo, E, Imbert, C, Pande, R, Walton, M and Mahapatra, B, 2014.

*Truth-telling by third-party audits and the response of polluting firms: Experimental evidence from India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 10. Duflo, E, Greenstone, M, Pande, R and Ryan, N, 2013.

*No margin, no mission? Evaluating the role of incentives in the distribution of public goods in Zambia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 9. Ashraf, N, Bandiera, O and Jack, K, 2013.

*Paying for performance in China's battle against anaemia*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 8. Zhang, L, Rozelle, S and Shi, Y, 2013.

Social and economic impacts of Tuungane: final report on the effects of a communitydriven reconstruction programme in the Democratic Republic of Congo, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 7. Humphreys, M, Sanchez de la Sierra, R and van der Windt, P, 2013.

*The impact of daycare on maternal labour supply and child development in Mexico*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 6. Angeles, G, Gadsden, P, Galiani, S, Gertler, P, Herrera, A, Kariger, P and Seira, E, 2014.

*Impact evaluation of the non-contributory social pension programme 70 y más in Mexico*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 5. Rodríguez, A, Espinoza, B, Tamayo, K, Pereda, P, Góngora, V, Tagliaferro, G and Solís, M, 2014.

*Does marginal cost pricing of electricity affect groundwater pumping behaviour of farmers? Evidence from India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 4. Meenakshi, JV, Banerji, A, Mukherji, A and Gupta, A, 2013.

*The GoBifo project evaluation report: Assessing the impacts of community-driven development in Sierra Leone*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 3. Casey, K, Glennerster, R and Miguel, E, 2013.

*A rapid assessment randomised-controlled trial of improved cookstoves in rural Ghana,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 2. Burwen, J and Levine, DI, 2012.

*The promise of preschool in Africa: A randomised impact evaluation of early childhood development in rural Mozambique*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 1. Martinez, S, Naudeau, S and Pereira, V, 2012.

This impact evaluation examines whether having women attending antenatal care services deliver HIV self-testing kits to their male partners addresses various supply and demand barriers to couples testing. Results demonstrate an increase in couples testing when oral HIV selftesting is available at home. Men who test positive at home are as likely to link to care as men who test positive at a clinic.

## **Impact Evaluation Series**

International Initiative for Impact Evaluation 202-203, Rectangle One D-4, Saket District Centre New Delhi – 110017 India

3ie@3ieimpact.org Tel: +91 11 4989 4444

